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PREFACE

The Mexican-American War in California has not been ignored by
historians, but it has not received its due either. Most books written
on the subject treat the campaign for Alta California as a sideshow,
concentrating instead on the more “glamorous" activities of Generals
Scott and Taylor in Mexico proper. Many books and articles on certain
aspects of the war in California have been published, but there is still
no single monograph on the subject. This thesis 1s an attempt to call
attention to this shortcoming in Mexican=-American War historiograrphy,
and bring together some of the recently published material on the sub-
ject. A great deal of primary source material exists in the Bancroft
Library in California, however, I have had to rely on published primary
sources and secondary works due to financial constraints and the time
factor involved in preparing this paper.

This project originally was to include a siudy of the entire
western theater of operations in the Mexican~American War, but was
narrowed to the campaign for Alta California. The first half of the
thesis deals with the development of Californian military forces and the
factors which brought Americans to the western coast of North America
during the 19th century. The latter half of the paper deals with the
American conquesi of California and its immediate results. It is this
author's eonviction that the long-term development of the military
contingents of toth the United States and California was a crucial factor
in explaining the outcome of the several batiles fought on California
s0il. In the course of writing this paper I attempted teo answer many
questions concerning the evolution of the California military egtablish-
ment, the conduct of the American campaign, and tne protlem of determining
who was the rightful military governcr during the occcupation of the

ii



iii
province, Perhaps I raise more questions than I answer, but there is
still much that can be done with this topic.

I wish to express my thanks to Mr. John Philip Langellier, a
fallow graduate student and good friend, who alded me in choosing the
topic for my thesis, and is locating certain materials for this project.

I also would like to thank the members of my committee, Dr. Donald
Mrozek, Dr. Robin Higham, and Dr. George Wilcoxon for their helpful
suggestions in preparing the final drafi. Their guidance has been greatly
appreciatad. As always, any errors which survived the final proofreading

of this paper are mine.
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CHAPTER I
SOLDIERS OF CROWN AND CROSS

The Spanish Military
Experience in Alta

California, 1252-1321

As this realm of the Californias hecomes pacified and its
natives concerted... the Spaniard can go on settling other
districts..., sultable for effecting the conversion of souls,

and affording them profits and advantages, for if the Span-
iard does not see any advantage he will not be moved to do good,
and these souls will perish without remedy if it is understced
that no profit will be drawn from going there. But if they are
lured by self interest they will go on discovering new lands
every day.

Father Ascension on the need
for a colony at Monterey.

The Mexican military forces that met American naval and military
Torces in Alta California derived from the Spanish military establishment
founded there during the last half of the eighteenth century, Since the
Spanish armed forces consisted of colonial troops assigned to colonial
duties and were the precursors of the Mexican soldiers of 146, the his-
tory of the settlement of California and the role played by the military
in this last act of colonization by the Spanish Emplre is vital to come
prehending the military traditions of the Mexican army and their relation=-

ship to the society as a whole.

California had been known to the Spanish conguerors of Mexico
since the sixteenth century; but it was neot until 1769 that a serious
attenpt was made to cclonize Upper, or Alta, Califcrnia. The Spanish
nzd established several smzll settlements in Baje Czlifornia teginning
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in 1697, at the insistence‘of the Jesuit priest Eusebio Kino. His
reason for creating an outpost at such a distance from New Spain was
ostensibly religious, the conquest of more souls for the Catholic Church;
but the existence of pearlbeds off the coast undoubtably made the venture
more palatable to the secular authorities who had to finance it. Alta
California, on the other hand, held nec such promise. Rumors of gold and
wealthy civilizations abounded; but the realiiy, as revealed by Spanish
explorers of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, gave no evidence
to support the myths. The only real interest shown by the Spaniards in
Upper California prior to the eighteenth century was based on the desire
to provide a way-station for the Manila galleons that sailed down the
coast on their way to Mexico. Even this was not enougn to prompi coloni-
zation of California since the ships that crossed the Pacific had only a
few days remaining to their voyage by the time they reached the west coast
of North Amerieca; nor pressurs from the Church did not persuade the Spanish
to establish themselves in Alta California either. Only when the Spanish
frontier was threatened bty ancther Eurocpean power did the colonial authorities
decide upon sending an expedition into California north of the 3aja, with

the intention of settling the area in the name of 5pain.

Russian exploration of the Pacific Northwest began in 1741 with a
voyage by Vitus Bering, dewn the ccast of Alaska and as far south as
Yashington and Oregon. DNews of this expedition reached the Spanish through
various written accounts late in the 1750's and immediately prompted concern
over the presence of another European nation in Spain's South Sea,

England's victory in the Seven Years' War further enhanced Spsin's con-
cern over Alta Cazlifornia since Great Britain now held title to much of
the territory France cnce claimed in western Canada. It ssemed apparent

to Spanish officials in lew Spain thal England had designs on noxtkern
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California (which meant the entire Pacific coast to the Spaniards), and
that Russia would soon establish a colony in this area, if it had not already
done so. This left the frontier provinces of New Spain open to attack by
Indian tribes supplied by competing Eurcopean powers, much as northern
Mexico had bteen earlier in the century. To prevent the southward spread
of the undesirable British and Russian presence, the government of Spain
authorized the colonization of Alta California.2

The Spanish army that occupied Alta California in 176G was a pro=
duet of over two centuries of Spain's frontier experience in the Americas.
The soldiers were tough, experienced Indian fighters, whose protective

leather clothing earned them the title soldados de cuera (the leather-

jacket soldiers).3 In addition, a small contingent of light infantry con-
stituted part of the "Sacred Expedition" to colonize California. These
troops, numbering no more than 51 in all, were mainly presidial troops

who would garrison the first two forts established in Upper California.

This small force was the vanguard for future settlers and scldiers bound for
California, and a deterrent to the Russians and British to the north.

The second arm of the Spanish occupation force took the form of
four Franciscan missionaries and a group of Christianized Indians., This
proselytizing contingent of the Sacred Expedition had proved its worth in
New Spain; by converting the Indians to Christianity, the friars performed
the dual service of conquering souls for the Kingdom of Heaven and citizens
for the Kingdom of Spain. The Catholic missionaries had a difficult task
to accomplish in "ecivilizing" the California Indians, for, as one friar of
the original expedition noted, the Indians were"...totally nude, as Adan

H Reinforcements for the soldiers of Christ

in Paradise before his sin.”
as well as the scldiers of the Spanish Crown arrived ir the 1770's 1o aid

in the conversinn of California and its inhabitants into a province
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of New Spain. The pattern of future settlement was greatly influenced by
an uprising of Yuma Indians in 1781, which effectively blocked the land
route from Sonora to California., Further colonization was made only by sea;
a contributing factor to the slow increase of the colony's population.
Once the initial settlements had heen made, the Jjob of transforming
a wilderness into a habitable land began. The agents of change were the
time=proven Spanish institutions=-the mission, the pueblo, and the presidio.
The missions, of which there were 20 by the end of the Spanish period,
were run by Franciscan friars and loyal Indian converts. Theoretically,
the Franciscans were to be relieved by members of the secular clergy who would
continue to run the missions. In practice, this rarely ever happened be-
cause of the great distance involved in transporting priests and their
religious paraphernalia and the shortage of clergymen on the frontier as a
whole, The goal of the mission was threefcld=--to convert, civilize, and
exploit the Indians. Herbert Eugene Bolton, a noted California historian,
described the function of the missions as follows:
Every mission was in the first place, a Christian seminary,
designed to give religiocus disciplire. Religious instruction,
the elementary sort suited to the occasion, was lmparted by a
definite routine, based on long experience, and administergd
with much practical sense and regard for local conditions.
Most missions taught the virtues of modern civilization through the word of
God and the whip of the friars and overseers. In addition, most California
missions employed Indians as skilled and unskilled laberers on the vast
farm and grazing lands granted them by the Crown. Indian workers supplied
the missiorns with food and manufactured goods such as cloth, ironware, and
cattle hides. That the neophytes were exploited so was probably a result of
the curious and contradictory attitude teowards them held by the missionaries,
The Indians were to be civilized, yet they were always held to be infericr

by the very men who worked tc save their souls. This may have been due to
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the necessity for the men of God to manage temporal things such as the
economies of their own missions, and their own human fallibilities. For
even the clergy were subject to the temptations of enslaving other men,
as was the case with the Indians of California.

Towns, or pueblos as they were called by the Spanish, also played
an important role in settling California. The need for farming communities
arose in the 1770's with the complaint by the padres that the missions could
not adequately support the garrisons of the four presidios. A4s a result,
Governor Felipe de Neve collected a small group of settlers, mostly the
families of presidial soldiers, and founded the first agricultural town of
California at San José. This project was entirely funded by the government;
the colonists received about 32 acres of land per family, tools to plant
crops, and tax exemptions for the first five years until the community could
rroduce a good surplus. Later communities followed the same pattern of
settlement as San José, with the additional benefit of a yearly subsidy of
rations and up to 120 pesos a year as an incentive to colonization.

In spite of the possibilities offered by the California frontier,
the pueblos attracted neither the quantify nor the quality of celonists
desired by the colonial government. Those settlers who came to California
in the last quarter of the eighteenth century were from the lower classes
in New Spain, men who had little hope of improving their condition in the
old provinces. The colonists were a lively topic of discussion in California,
especially for the friars who ran the missions. Several padres complained
of the immorality of the pueblo residents feeling that they provided a vad
example to the Indians, Father Lasuen of the Santa Clara mission noted
that the San Jose residents used mission Indians "indiscriminately for
211 their house and field work. They are an immense hindrance to the ceon=-

version of the pagans, for they give them bad example, they scandalize then,
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and they actually persuade them not to become Christians, lest they would
themselves suffer the loss of free 1abor."8 Government officials,too,
were desirous of attracting a better class of people to California and
tried to induce artisans and craftsmen to emigrate to the newly found province.
Skilled workers were offered a salary of l,dOO peses a year if they would
come to California, but few chose to make the long trip and give up their
livelihoods in New Spain. lNore often than not, the governor of California
had to settle for poverty stricken settlers of mixed blood and convicts
who were exiled to the province, usually to serve out their sentences as
soldiers at the presidios.

The most visible signs of Spanish military presence in Alta California
were the four presidics, or fortified settlements, at San Diego, San Francisco,
Monterey and Santa Barbara. The presidio evolved out of the Roman military
tradition of fortifications and was further modified by Spanish peoples
during the Reconquista of the Iberian peninsula during the Middle Ages.

When the Spaniards began to settle the New World in the sixteenth century,
the presidios were employed much as they had been on the frontier with the
Moors for centuries. The presidios of New Spain played an essential role
in the subjugation of the Americas as a military outpost to deter aggression
by hostile Indians. In addition, these small forts, much like the
American cavalry posts of a later century, provided protection to nearby
towns, escorts for merchants, and were themselves important as civilian
centers for the families of the garrison's soldiers. In northern Mexico,
the presidios also contributed to the pacification of hestile Indians by
providing farming tools, blankets, and other items essential to "civilized"
1ife, to those Indians who would settle in towns., This "peace by purchase"
policy worked well up to the erd of the Spanish period and alded in the

assimilation of the Indian into Spanish colonial society. The policy was
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not as prominent a role for the presidios of California since the Indians
were more passive than those in northern Mexico; and communications with
California were too difficult to provide a great deal of material aid to
the colonists, much less the native India.ns.9 In short, the California
military outposts were meant to deter the Russians and the English in

the Pacific Northwest, while providing the settlers with the same services

rendered by the presidios of the Provincias Internas (Internal Provinces).
The frontier presidios provided shelter for the troops who
occupied them and their families, but beyond that, their efficacy was
questionable. Most presidios could not withstand a prolonged siege. This
was due in part to their structural weaknesses, being made out of adobe
and wood, and the poor locations in which they were often built, sometimes
without a good water supply nearby. The distance between these outposts,
especially the coastal presidios of California, made it difficult for the
garrisons to support one another. These shortcomings did not go unnoticed,
however, as one observer, Captain George Vancouver of the Royal Navy,
noted in 1792: "Should the ambition of any civilized nation tempt it to
seize on these unsupported posts, they could not make the least resistance,
and must inevitably fall to a force barely sufficient for garrisoning and

w0 In all fairness to the presidio, one should

securing the country....
note that the criticisms of these military posts were made from a European
perspective,

A more balanced opinion of the frontiler presidios in New Spain is

presented in Max Moorehead's book The Fresidio: Bastion of the Spanish

Borderlands. In the following passage, the author summarizes the gradual
development of the presidio and its inherent stirengths and weaknesses;

In generzl, however, the presidio had evelved through the
centuries from a miniature versicn of the medieval castle
with high walls flanked by circular towers to a rather

severe put far more spacious guadrangle where walls were
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flanked by formidable angular bastions. Simple, archaic,

and fragile though it was--a mere suggestion of its 0ld

World prototype, the frontier presidioc was emminently

suited to its purpose. Since the hostile tribes of the

region had neither the inclination nor the patience to

place it under a prolonged siege, nor the firepower nec=-

essary to batter down its wall, the frontier presidio was

seldom in feopardy for all its architecturally antiquated

features.l
To the Indians, then, the presidio was a very formidable manifes
tation of the Spanish presence in the provinces.

The soldiers who manned the presidial outposts of Spain's
Empire in California reflected the mixed nature of colonial society.
Each presidio was a microcosm of the society, and represented the auto=
cratic and ofttimes corrupt practices of the bureaucracy that it sought
to defend. The officers were middle class in origin, seldom of pure
Spanish descent. The rank and file of the army in California were ccmposed
of lower=class individuals, many of whom had no alternative livelihood
and joined the army as a means to escape starvation. Although the class
distinction between officer and enlisted man was rigid and distinct, the
numerous land grants made to the soldiers gave them more social mobiliiy
than their counterparts in the older established provinces of New Spain.
Presidial commanders were forbidden to own large ranchos; but this was
a mere technicality, and in reality the officers accumulated huge land
holdings for their herds of cattle. This meant less time for soldiering
and too much concern over the commercial interests of the soldier/entre-
peneur. The effect these private estates had on California soclety was
great. "In California, the soldiers and setilers who had served the
crown well were able to amass large landholdings rather easily, and
within a generation had transformed themselves into a powerful provincial

» ||12-
aristocracy.

With a military force stratified along sirict social lines, it should

come as no surprise that abuse of power was a common cccurrence ln the
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California garrisons, as it was in the Provincias Internas. The

governors of New Spain had been wresiling with this problem since the
sixteenth century, with special attention to the system of procurement and
pay. No matter what reforms were attempted, a soldier could always count

on receiving less than his authorized allotment of food, clothing, and
equipment. The problem lay in the channels through which the Spanish soldier's
pesos had to flow., Every bureaucrat down the line took out his share of
handling expenses until the average trooper's pay was reduced by nearly

20 percent. Presidio commanders also got their share by purchasing goods
for the garrisén and charging the soldiers exorbitant prices.13 In
California the problem was accentuated by the distance from the central
authorities which made supervision of the presidio commanders more difficult,
while the fearsome journey to Spain’s lonely outpost on the Pacific placed
the arrival of supply ships in question. The class distinection, though

not quite as pronounced as in the Provincias Internas, was probably the

primary cause of this form of corruption. "Indeed, the presidio Captain
was as much a patron as a commandante, for he looked upon his troops (who
were most often his economic, social, and even racial 'inferiors') as his

personal \rassa.ls.":l'LY

Distance from the center of Spanish colenial government and the
supplies that were vital to California’s existence was not an insurmountable
protlem. The province could be made self-sufficient with an increase in
population and an easing of the trade restrictions that made commercial
endeavors a monopoly of the established business firms of the home country.

In 1794, Den Miguel Costanso filed a report at the request ¢f the
Viceroy of New Spain, Marques de Eranciforte, on the problems ¢f the
presidios. Costanso was an engineering officer in the Spanish army, one

of 11 such officers assigned to New Spain. His report on the need for
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strengthening the defenses of Alta Califormia is both insightful and re-
vealing, Costanss recognized the military impotence of the presidios and
proposed the establishment of regular artillery batteries at each of the
portside presidios, namely San Francisco, Monterey, and San Diego. 3But
Costansé's evaluation of the defenses of California went much further than
proposing only a larger military presence in the province:

‘ The measure of sirengthening the presidios lccated in

the ports... besides being most imporiant, as I pointed

out before, is perhaps somewhat risky because each forti-

fication is situated in an area devoid of resources and

help and the garrison of which does not know upon whom

to rely for aid due to the lack of population.... It will

therefore have to surrender even after a most vigorous

defence has been made, and it will necessarily be much

more difficult and costlier to regain the lost fort and

its surrounding territory.

Therefore, it is my Jjudgment that the first thing that

we should consider is populating the territory. Of what

value are immense areas of territory tc us if we do not

populate them? Of nothing more than an insufferable lpad

without the least expectancy of receiving any tenefit 5

Besides the more obvious point that a few thousand pescs
investment in better defenses was more cost effeciive than financing an
army to recapture the province if it fell to an invader, Costanso
addressed the crucial questicn of populating Alta California. In order to
assimilate better the Indians and make the province an asset to the Spanish
Empire, Costanso argued that "there are no means more sfficacious than from

the beginning of a new establishment to introduce among them [the anians]

zente de razdn (as Suropean Spaniards, the Creoles, and the people of

nixed blood are called in order tc differentiate them from the native
Indians), provided they are hardworking and useful."lb According to
Costanso's plan, artisans would ve sent to California to live in the missions
and teach the Indlans a irade, Cver the course of 20 to 25 years, the
missions would become towns, populated by civilized Indians and colonistis

of mixed blocd., This vislon of progress for the Indians was not shared by



11

the friars of the California missions, however. The gente de razoﬁ.

the people with which Costansé proposed to populate Californiz, were the
same class the mission padres opposed because of their iniquitous behavior.
The reascon for this clerical oppositiion was undoubtedly self-centered, as
the friars saw themselves as the only men capable of transforming the
pagans into Christian subjects of the Spanish Crown. Thus, wheﬁ a few

zente de razdn were sent to the missions to fulfill Contansd's plan, the

friars pleaded poverty and could not find enough food and money to support
the artisans in their role as teachers of trades.l7
The Costanso report also alluded to the restrictive irade reg-
ulations that governed California. Because of a lingering mercantilist
outlook on trade in the Pacific, there were no privately owned salling
vessels engaged in commerce in California and the Pacific coast of Mexice.
Contanéb believed that free trade among the colonies in Spain's South Sea
would increase California's productivity and enrich the coffers of the
Royal treasury through customs dues. The potential market for California

meat and produce, according to Costansﬁ, was great; these products ceould

bring a good price at San Blas and ease the shortage of food on the

western coast of Mexico.

But the business interests of Cadize~-fearing that
shipping would diminish the demand of its products, when
it could only have an opposite and generally favorable
effect==managed to destroy that budding enterprise very
early by repeatedly making unjust claims, and the vassals
engaged in the nascent endeavor, who wWwere forced to seek
another type of livelihood, for their families, began -q
neglecting shipping as well as abandoning coastal life.””

Although an attempt to increase California’s population and
train the Indians in some skills was attempted in the decade of the 1760's,
the endeavor faziled to solve the long term problems of the provirce. Cf
the few artisans who came to Upper California, whether prisoners or under

i . s "
contract from the government, most returned to Mexico when thelr "sentences
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expired. Resistance from the mission fathers was only part of the problenm.
Lack of resolve among government officials to ensure that colonists sent
to California had everything they were promised in the colonization plan
also contributed to the meagre growth rate of the province. In many cases,
the supply ships that were supposed to bring tools and initial rations for
new settlers carried nothing of the sort. California was always a low
priority in Spain's New World Empire, and it remained so throughout the
Mexican period of administration as well.

When Costans6 sent his report to the Viceroy in 1764, the
total military strength of Alta Califeornia was 218 officers and men,
divided evenly among the four presidics. Later that same year, a force of
about 70 Catalan Volunteers was sent to augment the strength of the province
while Spain was at war with France.19 In 1603, a gradual decline of mili-
tary forces, both qualitatively and quantitatively, began which the best
efforts of the Governor could not change. The first soldiers to leave
were the Catalan Volunteers who were withdrawn when the French threat ended.
The Governor of California, Diege do Borica, requesied 230 infaniry and
cavalry troops as both replacements and reinforcements for the Catalans,
and an additional 25 recruits to be sent yearly to replace soldiers who
retired from the service. Borica alsc requestied a naval presence of three
ships to be stationed in California waters in order to halt the by now
rather lucrative, and illegal, sea olter trade teing carried on by English
and American merchant ships. While Borica's pleas for additiocnal forces
were certainly heard in the capital, nothing was done to further the
defense of California at this time tecause of the high cost involved
in stationing mcre troops so far from Mexico prcper.zo

With no help forthceming from Mexico City, measures to increase

the effectiveness of California's military esiablishment were taken by
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local authorities., In 1805, 77 soldiers, including three captains and nine
NCO's, were recruited from the colonists. Recruitment was always a problem
during this period since most young men had a better alternative to military
service in the numerous ranchos that dotted the California countryside.
As a result, those who did have an inclination towards military service
joined militia units, taking advantage of the favorable military laws, which
exampted them from certain civil laws, under whose Jjurisdiction they now
fe11.21 A militia artillery company was also organized in 1805, consisting
of 62 privates and eight corporals. This unit, commanded by cne Alferesz
Jose Roca, had the unique distinction of a 100 percent literacy rate among
its soldiers, although the cannon with which they were to be armed were in
Mexico., Presidial garrisons, like the majority of the Californios, were
notorious for their high illiteracy rates.

The military forces in California continued to decline throughout
the last years of Spanish rule. The 1810 revolution in Mexico contributed
to the deterioration of the frontier forces Ly halting the annual supply
ships that brought the scldiers’ pay. For the next 1l years, the presidial
garrisons, and newly arrived colonists, were supported by the missions.

The only other effect of the revolutionary movement on California was to

give the governor of Alta California, Pablo Vincente Sola, more ammunition in
the battle over the secularization of the missions. In spite of the great
material aid provided to the presidios by the missions during these years

of scarcity, Sola considered the friars noihing more than managers for the
temporalities of the mission Indians. Father Payeras, president of the
California missions, dissuaded Sola from secularizing the missions by arguing
that fricticn would be created if non=mission officials were appoinied to
account for the temporalities of the Church, another of Sola's proposals,

and by convincing ths governcr that not enough secular clergy existed In
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California to staff the parishes that would be created in the wake of
secularization. The missions maintained their status in California society
for 20 years after the secularization deeree was published in Mexico in
1813.23

The only invasion of California by a hostile force during Spanish
rule took place in November and December of 1818, and illustrated the weakness
of the province's defenses. On 20 November 1818 two ships flying the flag
of Buenos Aires appeared off the coast of Monterey. The ships were commanded
by a Frenchman, Hippolyte de Bouchard, and carried letters of marque from
the revellious province of Argentina as privateers. According to Hubert
Howe Bancroft, the nineteenth century California historian, Bouchard had
some knowledge of the Monterey defenses from spies or other sources, pessibly
in Hawaii where his expedition prepared for its journey to California. He
did not know that prior warning had allowed the Spanish to deploy a battery
of 18 pounders on the beach at Monterey, commanded by a Corporal Mariano
Valle jo.

The following day, 21 November, saw a two=hour bombardment of the
coastal battery at Monterey by one of the privateers, at the end of which
the ship ran up a white flag of surrender. The battery of guns commanded
by Corperal Vallejo added to the fire of 15 Spanish artillexry pieces
from Point Potreros overlooking the beach, and put an end to the day's
cannonade. On the 22nd, however, both of Bouchard's ships drew close to
the shore of Monterey and sent nine beoats with probably 200 men plus light
field artillery ashore, This force guickly seized the presidio and scattered
its few defenders to the hills, Governor Sola, who was personally in
command at Monterey, sent for reinforcements from the presidio at San
Francisco and gathered his forces at a rancho five leagues from the ca.pital.z4

The insurgents weigzhed anchor on the 26th and prcceeded down the
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coast where they raided a rancho at Refugio and the mission of Ban Juan
Capistrano. Because Sola had been warned of the pirate raid over a month
before Bouchard arrived, most of the portable property of the missions
and civilians had been removed from the coastal regions and taken inland
a few miles, After finding little of value in California, Bouchard and his
men sailed on, the Californians believing they had won a great victory,
though once the raiders got ashore, no effective resistance was offered
them by the military forces of the province. At Monterey, the presidio
was quickly overrun and no attempt to retake it was made even after Sola
had received reinforcements from San Francisco. At San Juan Capistrano,
a group of Spanish soldiers observed the activities of the insurgents from
a hilltop at some distance from the mission. At no point were the pirates
of Hippolyte de Bouchard offered any serious resistance.25

The problems of California's coastal defense were made clear by
the Bouchard raids of 1818. As long as hostile ships were kept at a dis=-
tance by friendly artillery, the Spanish had no difficulty in deterring an
aggression on their soil. Once the pirates mounted a determined landing,
however, and got ashore in sirength (although this was certainly never the
400 man force Governor Sola attributed to the insurgents), the Spaniards
fled. The presidial outposts were not able to provide support to one
another because of the great distances separating them, although the tetal
military strength of the province probably exceeded that of the stirongest
hostile landing force. In tnis instance, the Spanish could not concentrate
their forces at any one point because of the advantage in mobllity held by
the sea-borne invaders. The lack of resistance by the inhabitants of Alta
California, with the exception of Vallajo's artillery exchange with one of
Bouchard's ships, was indicative of-the defense establishment. Although

the province was armed with field pieces and its defenses faced ihe sea,
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the Spanish military forces there were frontier units more suited to the
pacification or chastisement of Indians, depending on the disposition of
the latter,

The success of Bouchard's expedition brought a response from the
authorities in Mexico that proved to be one of the last acts of the Spanish
regime with regard to California. In the summer of 1819, the Viceroy of
New Spain sent reinforcements to California in the form of two detachments,
one of cavalry and one of infantry. The cavalry, a 10C man force from the
Mazatlan Escuadron, arrived at San Diego on September 16 following an un=-
scheduled landing on the coast of Baja California and overland march to the
port. These troops were professionals, well disciplined, and a welcome
sight to the Californios. The infantry unit was another matter. They had
teen recruited at the last minute by govermment ocfficials at San Blas,
and arrived in California during July and September. Although known
officially as the San Blas Infantry, the inhabitants of the province they
had come to protect gave them the rather unbecoming sobriquet "Choles,"
meaning, in essence, "scum of the earth." "They belonged to the criminal
and vagabond classes; were taken for the most part from the jJails oxr picked
up by press-gangs in New Galicia, and they were altogether ignorant of
military discipline or the use of arms."26 The 200 men of the Mazatlan
and San Blas units were evenly divided among the four presidios, and served
to strengthen the garrison of Californiaj; but, they also placed a greater

burden on the resources of the province to support them.

From the beginning of the Spanish colonial experience in the
Pacifiec, California was an isolated outpost of a dying empire. The great
distance from New Spain made the Californias very unattractive to new settlers,

in spite of inducements offered by the government to populate the province.
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This became critical after the only land route to California was cut
off by the Yuma Indians in 1781. Travel by sea, against the most favorable
winds, became the rule for California's pattern of settlement. It also
contributed to the cost of maintaining California’s defenses, something
which permeated the thoughts of military and ¢ivil authorities alike.
"What is important now," wrote Miguel Costans® in his 1794 report, "is to
find some means by which to avoid, without greater expenses, the dangers
and evils that now threaten us and to become Jjointly more aware of the
nearness of the foreigners already settled in the coasts of New California. "%’
Finding economical solutions to the vexing problems of defense was important
to all of Spain's colonial possessions in general and to California in
particular, California was a low priority from the perspective of New
Spain, as exemplified by the sending of prisoners as colonists and soldiers.
In a sense, California was the Botany Bay of the Spanish Empire in America,
and the government may have had this thought in mind when they sentenced
criminals to live in California.

Probably the greatest shortcoming of the colony of California was
its lack of population and a commercial class. The outmoded mercantilist
policies of the Spanish Crown served to hinder the development of a prosper-
ous colonial empire by leaving the monopoly on trade with the great commercial
houses of the home country,zs As a result, there wers no privately-owned
commercial vessels operating out of Pacific poris under Spanish colonial
registry. This in turn further discouraged the settlement of Alta California
since 1little or no trade existed with the colonies of Mexico and South
America, Without the poteniial for profit, the California authorities were
unable to attract colonists of the desirable soclal classes and had to be

satisfied with criminals, solélers, and small farmers who scught a better

1ife,
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The Spanish military presence in California was, in essence,
more symbol than substance. This was true from the initial occupa=-
tion of Alta California up to the final years of Spanish rule.
The garrison of California was & frontier army assigned the additional
task of deterring aggression by unfriendly European powers along the bor-
ders of New Spain. The inability of the Spanish army to defend the terri-
tory against Bouchard's quasi-European force revealed the weaknesses of the
Spanish military system. This legacy, enhanced by the political instability
of 11 years of revolution, was Spain's gift to the newly created Republic

of Mexice in 1821.
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CHAPTER II
THE SPANISH INHERITANCE

The Military Forces of
Alta California, 1822-10846

Armed forces are a reflection of the society from which they

are drawn. In the case of California, the gradual change of socilety from
the Spanish colonial period to the 1840's, marked a change in the province's
military establishment as well. The years of revolution started the de-
cline of the presidial system as it existed in the eighteenth century.

The years following the revolution, 1821-1845, were characterized by
political instability, with no consensus among the population as to the

form of government in California. This confusion, combined with the
evolution of society in the territory, created the unique military units

which faced the Americans in 1846,

The success of the 1821 revolution against Spain and the sub~
sequent establishment of a Mexican Republic represented little more than
a change of flags to the inhabitants of Alta California, Although the
Californios remained loyal to the Spanish Crown throughout the turbulent
years of revolution, 1810-1821, the transition from a Royal Spanish province
to an Imperial province of Augustin Iturbide's empire took but four months
to complete. California remained virtually untouched by the violence of
the preceding 11 years, the one notable exceptlon being Hippolyte de
Bouchard's raid on the capital at Monterey and several perts along the
coast. That the military forces were unable to repulse the raids of the

22
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patriot-pirates was due in large part to the state of the Spanish military
establishment in the province. This, above all else, was the one lasting
legacy of the Spanish Empire .in California=--a nominal defense establishment
in a steady state of decline. Governmentswould come and go, as Iturbide's
did just 18 months after its inception, as would over a dozen Mexican
governments in the years before the American invasion of California in
1846, But the Spanish military tradition, with its inherent strengths and
many weaknesses, provided California with little more than a facade of
martial strength.

The decade of the 1820's witnessed a continuing decline in the
power of the central authorities in California. The first Mexican
governor of the province, José Maria Echeand{a, arrived in California in

1825, along with a small infantry unit known as the Fijo de Hidalgo and

an artillery detachment. Most of these soldiers were convicts, like their
predecessors under the Spanish system, and succeeded in allenating the
locals by their scandalous behavior and irritating habit of procuring
goods by foraging on the farms and ranchos. In 182G, the province was
sent an allotment of 320 muskets to distribute among the militia, along
with a copy of the Spanish regulations for artillery militia. The
Mexican government showed the same attiiude towards California in this
action as the Spanish had in their 52 years of governing the Californias;
the Pacific coast settlements would remain a very lew priority, and any
attempts at improving the defenses of the state would be merely symbolic.l
Governor Echeandga, like the YMexican government, was very much
concerned with the problems of defending California from outside aggression.
The perpetual threat to California remained the Russian trading outpost at
Bodega Bay and its Fort Ross. As early as December 1821, the young Mexican

rovarnment perceived an increasing menace from their far nerthern nelghbors.,
28 e 3 g
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A committee on foreign relations in Mexico City described the Russian
Empire as: "This great power which extending its arms over Europe and
Asia seems to be going to dominate the 0ld World, has also very advanced
designs on the new." There was, in fact, a brief attempt to persuade the
Californians, specifically the civil and military officials in San Francisco,
to shift their allegiance to the Tsar., The project came to naught, however,
as it was an independent action by a Russian naval lieutenant and appears
not to have been sanctioned by his government.2 There was alsc ne sympathy
for another change of flags among the Californians themselves.

In the view of Echeandia and the Californians, the Russian menace
was more economic than anything else, Although trade restrictions had been
eased somewhat with the change of governments, Mexican merchant shipping
remained virtually non~-existent. Conversely, the amount of trade carried
on by British, American, and Russian ships increased during this periocd
because of the profits to be gained in the California cattle hide and tallow
business. The Russians were the closest competitors tec the Mexican Pacific
provinces, and the popular California view of them as econcmic imperialists
is best illustrated by a passage from a pamphlet of the period: '"The
Russians are in posseséicn in Bodega and all that immense coast; have built
forts and brigs; the very lighters used at San Franciscc were bullt by them;
they are extending their relations by means of trade."3

The threat of encrcachment through trade from forces outside
Californiaz was not the only economic difficulty facing the province. In
the decades of the 1820's and 30's, California'’s political scene was
dominated by factional strife between the northern and scuthern aristo=-
cratic families. These were the real powertrokers in California, and their
successful rise to prominence hinged on their ability tc sell hides and

tallow to foreign merchants. There were but two customs houses in
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California during this period, one at Monterey and the other at San
Diego. The governor at Monterey was often directed by the Mexican
government to close all of California's ports save the one at the provincial
capital to foreign merchant ships in order to controi smuggling.
Southern ranchers then had to transport their gocods north to Monterey
where the appropriate duties could be paid. This situation not only made
it unprofitable for the southern ranchers to export their products, but
it also served to enrich the governor and the northern faction with the
income derived from the only functioning customs house. This fact created
a movement among the residents of California scuth of Santa Zarbzra to
make Los Angeles the capital of the province. These economic imperatives
served to divide the territory politically into northefn and southern
regions.

The rivalry between the aristocratic factions detracte@ from the
authority of the Mexican governors who were sent to rule the turbulent |
province of Californi#. Governof'Echeandia discovered very quickly that
his policies, particularly the movement to seculafize the missions, re-
ceived but lukewarm support from the residents. Lack of funds from the
central government in Mexico also contributed to the ineffectiveness of
Echeard{a's rule and led to two revolts by the army in 1828 and 1829
concerning the soldiers' btack pay. The 1829 altercation led to the
resignation of Echeandia and illustrated the protlem of administering
California's scarce fiscal reéources. The annual cest of government,
including support cf the military estatlishment, was about $130,000 per
year. "Theoretically, the national treasury should have paid the
territorial expenses and feceived the net product of the territorial

revenue; but practically, the territory was left to pay its own ex-

penses...."5 California's income during this period from customs duties



26
and taxes amounted to barely half of the total needed to run the province,
and even this was reduced by the corrupt collection and distribution
practices of government officials. Without sufficient funds to pay the
presidial garrisons, the scldiers revolted. They were led by a citizen
of Monterey, one Joagquin Solis, who tock command of a rag-tag army of sorts,
consisting of soldiers from the presidiecs at San Francisco and Monterey.
Echeand{a, in the meantime, gathered a force at San Diego and marched
north to meet Solis in battle near Santa Barbara. "In the viecinity of the
town Echeand{é's troops had taken their stand. When Solis reached there,
cannonading began and the troops on both sides kept up the firing, although
both took care to keep outside of shooting range, until the powder had
heen used up."6 The revolt subsided after this bloodless battle at Santa

Barbara, but Echeandia was so discouraged by this no confidence vote in
his ability to govern that he retired in 1830.

Political instability in the Mexican home provinces reached
California in the year 1831 with the arrival of the Centralisti Governor
Manuel Victoria. Prior to his arrival, the outgoing Republican government
had sent José Marié Padrgs to govern the Californias, but he never took
office because of the Centralist overthrow of the government. Padrés
gained quite a follewing among the Californians primarily because of his
espousal of secularization for the missions. The end of Franciscan rule
in California's missions would mean the conversion of the clerical domains
into towns for the Indians, and the division of the remaining lands, which
were quite large by this time, among Californians. Before Echeand{a
retired as governer, Padrés was able to persuade him to issue a
secularizaticn order, which Victoria naturally rescinded upon his arrival.
Tha result was insurrection by the aristocracy of the south, led by José

r's
An*onio Carrillo and ex=Governcr Echeandia, and ancther "battile" between
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rival factions at Cahuenga Pass near Los Angeles on 4 December 1831.
In this engagement, two men were killed and Governor Victoria lost what
1little support he had gained. He was returned to Mexico on the next ship.?

To secularize or not was a vital question that had to be addressed
during the decade of the 1830's, for the missions still played an important
role in California's defense establishment. Since the years of the
revolution against Spain, the missions had supplied the soldiers with food
and what crude clothing could be preduced by the Indian laborers., This
situation existed throughout the 1820's when the garrisons of the four
presidios drew rations from the missions and paid for this support with
drafts on the Federal Bank; which, parenthetically, were never paid by the
Mexican governmen't..8 Liberal sentiment in Mexico after the revolution
against Spain encouraged secularization on humanitarian grounds. The
harsh discipline and poor living conditions of the missions were well known
by the time; and many Indians in fact, rather than put up with the hard
work and authoritarian rule of the mission padres, escaped. This trend
of declining population among California's missions combined with the de=
sire on the part of many Californians to enrich themselves by picking up
the pleces of land following secularization, provided the impetus to do
away with Pranciscan rule and convert the missions into pusblos for the
Indians.9

The man chosen for the task of secularizing the missions was
Brigadier General Jose Figuerca, a soldier with a fine record from the
revolution against Spain., He was probably the most capable Mexican governor
to be sent to California during the years of Mexican rule. An experienced
soldier and clever political man, Figueroa had survived the upheavals of
Mexican politics in the 1820's, and emerged as a reluctant supporter of

President Anastasio Bustamante. Figuerca was nei without his weaknesses,
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however:

He had deserted his wife shortly after marrying her, and

the government had been forced to subtract a modest amount

from his salary so that she and his son should not starve.

He lived openly with a mistress. He was inordinantly fond

of_gambling and had run up‘consider§ble gambling debts 10

while he was in Sonora, which he still owed when he left it,

Figuerca arrived in Monterey in January 1833 and proceeded

cautiously with the process of secularization. The question of who
would benefit most from the change of habits in the California missions
was complicated by the arrival of over 200 colonists from Mexico, whose
leaders sought to appropriate what was perceived by the Californiocs as
more than their fair share of mission lands and cattle. Governor
Figueroa sided with the native Californians: "There can be little doubt
that Figueroca's attitude on this crucial matter coincided with that of many
of the leading Californians, who felt that they had more right to mission
lands than immigrant Mexican%, for whom they had little use.“ll Figueroa
also believed that the mission Indians had a claim on at least part of the
land that would be made available once the missions were secularized. He
was opposed by the Directors of Colonization, José Maria de Hijar and
José Margé Padréé, hoth of whom felt the mission lands belonged to the
public domain and should not be reserved for the Indians. This conflict
of interesis was resclved when a member of the Hij&r-Padrgs colony was
implicated in an attempted revelt, and the governor responded by having
the two Directors of Colonization arrested and deported to Mexice in 1834,
As for the missions, 10 of the 21 were secularized in 1834, with native
Californians appointed to administer their temporaiitiss. The few
Indians who remained on mission lands rsceived a portion sultable for

farming, while the better paxrt of the land, suitable for grazing, was

parceled out teo influential members ¢ the province., Governor Figueroca
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died in 1835 and left the Californians to decide for themselves how the
remaining missions were to be divided.

After the death of Figuerca, very little sympathy for any kind
of central authority deriving from Mexico remained in California. Santa
Anna was in power in Mexico, and his Centralist policies were not favored
by the Californians. On November 7, 1836 the new governor declared
California "a free and sovereign State" until such time as Mexico
repudiated Centralism.12 This declaration of independence was never
recognized by Mexico, but it would be eight years before Mexican authority
reasserted itself in California,

The successor to Governor Figueroa was a native Californian,
Juan Bautista Alvarado, who was once president of the representative body
known as the Diputaciéh. Alvarado shared power with his uncle Mariano
‘Guadalupe Vallejo, who helped him overcome the political opposition offered
by the Centralist faction. Their rule was not without its problems, how=-
ever, as the southern Californians continued to agitate for removal of the
capital to Los Angeles., A decree by the Mexican Congress in 1835 did, in
fact, declare Los Angeles a ciudad (city) and the new capital of the
province, but this action was nullified by Alvarado. In order to placate
the southerners, Alvarado appointed a sub-goﬁernor to rule California south
of Santa Barbara.13

The impact of Californiz's instability and years of neglect on the
defense establishment of the province was tremendous. In 1830, the number
of men in active military service dropped below 400; '"The presidial cavalry
companies numbersd about 220 men; the Magatecos, 50; the artillery, 40;
and the San 3las infantry, 40." The total number of artillsry pieces
of all calibres was 54, many of which were unserviceable.lg The decline

in troop strength is evident in a comparison between the stirength of the
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garrison at San Francisco between the years 1826 and 1833, There were 76
cavalry soldiers at San Francisco in 1826, along with a few artillerymen,
"distributed between the presidios and the missions, and consequently not

15 By 1833, the

more than half a dozen are at any time in one place.”
number had fallen to 36, including the commandante of the presidio, Mariano
Vallejo. Throughout the province the situation was the same; poorly
clothed, ill-equipped, and seldom paid soldiers maintained a semblance of
military preparedness in a land the Mexican Republic seemingly forgot.

The federal government expected Califormia to be self=-supporting,
but this remained an impossible dream., The easing of trade restirictions
in the wake of the revolution against Spain failed to alleviate fhe per-
petual indebtedness of the provincial government. The soldiers had ex-
pressed their dissatisfaction in the revolutions of 1828 and 29, and
locked for new masters for their sustenance. "Our soldiers are all of one
mind," wrote an officer of the San Francisco garriscn; "whoever pays them
the arrears due from the Spanish government is their master; he purchases

16 The secularization of the missions

hin [sic] and to him they belong."
completed the disintegration of the bonds between the common soldiery and
the California government. Without the means to pay the army appro-
priately, there developed in California factions based primarily on the
north/south lines drawn by the economic conditions of the province.

Without pay, many soldiers retired and sought & living on the ranchos

or bty farming. For those who remained in active service, and by 1842

this meant only the presidial company split between San Francisco and
Sonoma, their paymaster became none other than the cattle taron of the north,
Mariano Vallejo, According to an American traveler of the pericd, Vallejo
controlled ranches with assets that numbered 50,000 cattle, 24,000 sheep,

&
and 2,000 horses; and kept 600 hired hands ati one ranch near Petaluma. 7
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The San Francisco company remained under the personal direction of Vallejo,
who was the military commandante of California, from 1835 to 1842. Early
in 1836, Vallejo removed all but a housekeeping contingent from the pre-
sidio at San Prancisco so he sould keep a betiter watch on the Russians at
Fort Ross, and his own ranchos as well.

The last Mexican governor of California arrived in August, 1842,
along with the last reinforcements the province would receive hefore the
outbreak of war with the United States. Manuel Micheltorena was not un=
like his predecessors from Mexico City. He did, however, come at a more
opportune time than Echeandfa and Victoria, neither of whom got much
support from the Californians. By 1842, Governor Alvarado and
Commandante Vallejc were no longer cooperating; and they welcomed Micheltorena
as an alternative to the anarchy that prevailed prior to his arrival. The
new governor's army-was not as welcome as he, however, since his men con-
sisted of convicts and other undesirables. Micheltorena's "army"
originally was to consist of 500 men, of which 200 would be regulars, but

1
only about 350 reached California--the rest deserted along the way.

Cne man who witnessed the coming of the Batallion Fijo de Californias

was an American settler by the name of Alfred Robinson. His description
brings to mind the convict company sent to California by the Spanish in

18191

They presenied a state of wretchedness and misery unequalled.,

No%t one individual among them possessed a Jacket or pantaloons; but
rnaked, and like the savage Indian, they concealed their nudity with
dirty, miserable blankets, The females were not much beiter orf;
for the scantiness of their mean apparel was too apparent for modest
cbservers. They appeared like convicts, and indeed the greater part
of them had been charged with the crime either of murder or thfgt'
And these were the soldiers sent to subdue this happy country,

Upon reaching San Diego, Micheltorena had his troops clothed and gave

them some kind of military training as well,
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Micheltorena's reign as governor of California lasted about two
and a half years., During that time, he had become somewhat popular with
the people and took some small steps towards improving education in the
province, which was virtually nonexistent, and reforming the Church. In
spite of his widespread personal acceptance, the depradations visited upon
the inhabitants of California by Micheltorena's troops plus the governor's
failure to placate the southern aristocracy by moving the capital to Los
Angeles brought about his downfall in 1845, Juan Bautista Alvardo and
Jode Castro led a revolt in January of that year by overcoming the garrison
at Los Angeles., Their army of some 400 Californians met the forces of
Governor Micheltorena at Cahuenga Pass on 20=21 February; and, after two
days of indecisive volleying by five cannon, Micheltorena gave up the
struggle and returned to Mexico the following month with his scldiers. He
lost one mule during the battle at Cahuenga Pass-=the rebels lost a horse.20
Pio Pico, a southern rancho owner, became the new governor and succeeded
in making Los Angeles the capital, but his influence only extended as far
north as Santa Barbara. The new ruler of northern California was Jose
Castro who controlled the customs house at Monterey along with most of the

government's income.

During these years of nominal Mexican rule over the province of
California, the remants of the Spanish defense establishment virtually
disappeared, The presidial ccmpany at San Diego was discontinued in 1842;
the fort was in ruins and there were nc arms lefi. A few nmen remained at
Santa Barbara up to 1843, but most of these retired to earn a living for
their families and themselves., Hubert Howe Bancroft noted that a
commandante was listed at Santa Barbara as late as 18435, but what precisely
he commanded at this time remains a :r.ystery.zz The patron of the old San

Francisco company, Mariano Vallejo, continued to maintain some 4o to 50
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soldiers at Sonoma at his own expense. This business cost him about
1,000 pesos per month, and had become a family affair--his brother
Salvador was the commandante of the post. (Antonic Pico, a relative of
the governor, held the rank of lieutenant and commanded the company).23
The state of affairs at Monterey were no better than at the other coastal
presidios as Duflot de Mofras, a French traveler of the period, related in
his memoirs:

There is embellished with the name of castillo (chateau) a small

battery on a platform, situated on the slope toward the

anchorage.... The old carriage, two or three hundred balls

of br?nze, the trucks, the powder carts of %ﬁcient Spanish

materials all are on the ground, abandoned.

The evolution of California socisty that began under the Spanish
was completed by the 1830's. Life under the Spanish had always been sub-
ject to a degree of despotism, especially for a soldier in the presidial
companies. The abundance of land for the officer corps of the Spanish
army created a provincial nobility capable of supporting themselves by
means of cattle ranching and trade with foreign merchants. The Indians
provided cheap labor for the maintenance of various industries at the
missions, thus making the Franciscan padres rather wealthy and essential
to the economy of the province., This was particularly true in the case
of the presidios which depended on the missions for food and clothing dur-
ing the sparse years of Mexican rule. In a sense, the common soldiers of
the Spanish and Mexican garrisons were the property of their officers.
When the missicns were secularized beginning in 18335, there could be
doubt that the former presidial troops were litile mere than a private
army for their éfficer/employers. The case of Mariano Vallejo is an
appropriate example of this trend. It would not be wholly inaccurate,

therefore, to describe Californié society as semi-feudal, with a ruling

nobility sharply divided along both economic and political lines,
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struggling for dominance in the state's affairs. This split manifested
itself in the north/south quarrels over the location of the capital and
status of the custom houses of Monterey and San Diego.
Ironically, these years of anarchy and political strife have

been idealized in the writings of many historians and novelists, One
description of the "Golden Age" of California by Robert Glass Cleland
exemplifies this point:

It was 'the day of the Dons,' the era of the private ranchos,

the idyllic interlude during which a2 people of simple wants,

untroubled either by poverty or the ambition for great wealth,

gave themselves over wholeheartedly and successfully_to the

grand and primary business of the enjoyment of life.
While Cleland's passage may well apply to the few aristocratic families
of California, the majority of the population lived in the towns or on
the ranchos and certainly had more concerns than the mere enjoyment of
life,

The bvattles fought in California by rival factions in this period

have often been described as "comic=opera'" affairs., Two confrontations
at Cahuenga FPass in 1831 énd 1845, along with the 1829 "battle" at San
Diego might best be described as battles full of sound and fury, signifying
very little. Part of the reason for the inconclusiveness of California
battles in this period was the close relationships between the members of
different factions. Members of the ruling elite had intermarried over
the years to the point that there was a real danger of killing a brother-
in-law.26 Another thought that must have been in the minds of the soldiers
of these contending forces was their family life. Very few men were will-
ing to risk their lives for the cause of some would=be governor knowing
that he had a rancho or farm nearby that supported hin and his family
better than the promises of the Califernia politicians. The members of

Czlifornia's nobility might have been willing to fight to the last cholos,
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but the common soldier saw no advantage to be gained by his death in a
fight that was not wholly his concern, Thus, California battles took on
a rather unique character wherein bombastic remarks made by one faction
were returned in kind. Losses, however, were kept to a minimum. Thomas
0. Larkin, the American consul in San Francisco, gave a fine description
of the second battle of Cahuenga Pass fought in 1845 between Governor
Micheltorena and the rebel forces of José Castro and ex-Governor Alvarado:
"Tis said there was a battle fought in some part of Mexico where 6,000
ball cartridges were fired and high mass said the next day, giving thanks
there was no bloodshed."<’

After 1840, the Russian threat to California subsided. During
the previous decade, the settlements at Bodega Bay tegan to cost more than
they were worth. A representative of the Russian-American Company that
operated out of Bodega frequented the port of San Francisco to watch
after the ships sent by the Russians to buy wheat from the Californians,
Some Russian goods were sold in California as well, but not enough to
make up for ths rising detits of the colony. As a result, the Russians
resolved to sell out and attempted to get the Mexican goverament to pur-
chase their assets. There appeared to be 1ittle interest on the part of
the Mexicans in this venture, so the final sale was made to a foreign
settler who already had large landholdings in California, John Sutter.
Although the Russians were no longer to be feared on the northern
California frontier, there was a new threat in the form of the United

28
States of America.

In order to defend the prcvince against a rising tide of American
infiltration, Genersl Mariano Vallejo called for reinforcements from
¥exico., This occurred early in the 184C's., The response by the federal

government was Micheltorena's "army"; and, since this proved
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unsatisfactory, Vallejo agitated for the formation of militia units for
the defense of California. Micheltorena created Vallejo's militia in a

pronunciamiento (decree) on July 16, 1844, which provided for the en-

rollment of all men from the ages of 15 to 60 for possible service in a
cavalry force of two regiments, each one numbering 110 dragoons.z9 These
troops were required teo provide their own uniforms and equipment, while the
provincial government supplied the officers, Training for the ranchmen who
belonged to the militia was to be held weekly, but in fact, the only
practice undertaken by the militia was in actual battle, Disciplire in this.
force was very lax, as it was - in the Mexican army as a whole. Salutes

were rendered collectively by presenting arms in formation, and officers
had some difficulty controlling their men.30 There were also no provisions
for resupplying this force once it took to the field., The soldiers took
care of themselves, however, by foraging for the needed supplies, Quite

a few deserted, too, and returned to their homes where they could be sure
of getting a decent meal., Firearms consisted of whatever could be had.

The primary weapons were antiquated carbines and English Tower muskets,

as well as pistols and flintlocks. Perhaps the most effective weapon in
the entire inventory was the lance, for California was cavalry couniry;
and, if the Californians were lacking in modern equipment, they excelled

in horsemanship. This factor would prove important in the upcoming war
with the Americans.

The militia law promulgated by Governcor Micheltorena before his
departure remained the cornerstecne upon which California's defenses were
built for the American invasion in 1846, In practice, the several
shortecomings of the system, specifically the lack of logistical support
and desertion, wrecked havoc with the militiamen, creating very uneven
resistance on their part. Afier a decade of factional infighting, the

leaders of variocus cligues seemingly settled their differences with the
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coming of the Americans; but the people were tired of war. More often
than not, citizens had Yo be coerced into service. Cne prospective
California general seized the horses of a group of rancheros while they
were at Mass and forced them to "volunteer'' for actice service. The
continuous calls to arms and subsequent dismissals shortly thereafter
during 1846, must have raised some serious questions in the minds of
the soldiers about the cause for which they fought. Ferhaps more than
a few Californians, by their ambivalent attitude toward fighting for
their aristocratic leaders, were more inclimned to accept American rule as

an alternative to the chaotic conditicns of the previcus decade,

Frontier 1life in California during the years of Mexican rule changed
very little from the preceeding 52 years under the Spanish. The problems
rresent under the Spanish regime were passed on to the Mexicans, and their
solutions proved to be no more effective than the remedies attempted by
the previous owners. GCalifornia was held in low esteem by the Mexicaﬁ
government Jjust as it had been under the Spanish. Maintenance of a de=
fense establishment in the face of a perceived Russian threat remained
extremely difficult given the relative harshness o¢f life on the frontier.
The Mexican government tried to solve the long standing problems of
restrictive trade regulations and the lack of population, but both of these
ran afoul of local political intrigues and never reached fruition. The
Eijar~Padré; colony was opposed by the native Californians because it
became entangled with the question of secularization and who would receive
the extensive lands controiled by the missions., Besides this, the more
than 200 colonists could have been a very influential force in California
polities and disrupted the delicate balance of power that existed between

the nocthern and southern factions. The freeing up of trade restrictions
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met a fate similar to the colonization attempt because of the customs
house question. Neither the northern nor the southern aristocrats could
agree on California'’s future development, thus they resorted to the family
feud or "comic-opera" battle. When they did resolve their differences and
unite against a common foe, it was too late. The Californios had neither
the means nor the will to resist because of the divisiveness of the pre-
vious decade.

The deterioration of California's defenses coincided with the rise
of a local "nobility" in the form of wealthy families who were often ex-
soldiers. The federal Mexican government did net put much into the de~
fenses of their far away frontier province, and received but nominal suppori
in return. Mexican governors of California reigned as’ long as the ruling
elite allowed, while members of their own caste were, with some difficulty,
better able to cope with the internal affairs of the province. In a sense,
there were three Californias; Baja, northern Alta, and southern Alta
California. Because of the disagreements between the aristocratic
families of the northern and southern factions, the standing defenses of
the territory in the form of the presidial garrisons slowly disappeared
and were replaced by private forces supported by wealthy rancheros.

Mariano Vallejo was probably the most powerful of these men., He was noi,
however, insensitive teo the plight of the declining military establishment
and tried to reinvigorate the army through the creatien of militia companies.
Governor Micheltorena snacted the legislation and as of 1844, California’s
defense hinged upon the questionable loyalties anrd uneven gualiiy of

several hundred reluctant vagueros (cowboys) and rancheros. ZBereft of
nearly everything necessary for a successful defense, the citizen soldiers
who answered the call of their state in 184¢ represented the vest ard the

werst of California’s cligzrchic society.
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To call the territory of California during the years 1822-1846

"Mexican" seems inappropriate. While the province shared many of the

laws and instibtutions of the Mexican Republic, all of which derived from

a common Spanish heritage, the socieiy that developéd in California was
unique and rather independent of the "home" country. The Californians were
a novel collection of individuals who disagreed on everything but their
agrarian and pastoral way of life. Comparing them to the ruling class of
medieval Europe does not seem altogether incorrect either as the history
of California during the third and fourth decades of the nineteenth

centure indicates:

Cn the march these pastoral dragoons must have cut a
pictureesque figure against the summer-browned hills of
the California coast, the colors of their serapes catching
the sunlight, their leathern cuirasses and defensas flapping
in the breeze and their colored lance-penants fluttering
above them. An occasional shield with its Castilian
heraldry, toc, must have betokened the semi=-feudal and
languishing order they sought to defend.’?

The coming clash of arme between this irregular, semi-feudal society
and a rather curious assortment of American soldiers, sailors, and
frontiersmen would provide a colorful chapter to the history of beth

Mexico and the United States.
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CHAPTER III

RUMCRS CF WAR

American Interests in
California, 1789-1846

Be all these things as they may, from the time of MNr.
Monroe, the United States have said ithat no European
Government should plani colinies [sic¢] in North America.
Mr, Polk reiterates this assertion, and his Government
vwill make it good. And the day that the Eurcpean Colon-
ists by purchase or the European soldier by waxr places
his foot on California soil, that day shall we see the
hardy sons of the West come to the rescue.

Thomas Qliver Larkin
U.S5. Consul at lMonterey

While the Californians were caught up in their internal affairs,
events were taking place outside Alta California that would ultimately
decide the fate of that turbulent province. As early as the 178C's
there was a hint of things to come., Merchant ships of the young American
republic, in search of new markets, made their first calls cn Canton in
China. This svent in and of itself had little to do with the Epanish
province of California; but over the course of several decades, the notion
of gaining a foothold in the China market and eventually expanding that
trade would play a vital role in the movement to acquire California for

the United States. For once the myth of a vast market for American goods
in the Orient took hold, the search for a port on the Facific (cean as a
way=-station for American merchantmen soon began.

The westward movement of Americans in the early nineteenth
century also aided in developing the idea that Califorria would one day
melong to the United Statss. The setilers who moved west during the first

b2
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decades of the nineteenth century stimulated popular notions about the
form of the expanding republic and the role it would have in claiming
the wilderness of North America for civilization. The growth of these
ideas in the minds of men coincided with the growth of the United States.
California played a role in this popular mythology first as the natural
boundary of the nation, later as a "Gold Ccast" where fortunes were to be
made.,

California served as a focal point of both reglonal and national
interests in the years 1789-1846. The reglonal interests of the New
England merchants first brought California to the attention of othex
Americans. Pioneers of the west found in the Pacific Ccean a boundary
that was not to be crossed until 50 years after California was signed over
to the United States. Continentalists who wished to increase the power
and prestige of the nation saw a way to create an American "Empire"” through
the acquisition of California. In varying cdegrees, then, California was
always a part of American mythology. It was the California of this
mythology which drew Americans into the province and eventually made it an
objective of American foreign policy. This was also an idea readily
serviceable to groups as diverse as western farmers and New England
capitalists in advancing their cwn regional interestis.

California came into focus as an objeciive of United States’
foreign pelicy in the ninetsenth century because cf the afcrementioned
dynamic forces at work within American society. A brief survey of these

&

farces is essential te undersitarnding the drive to ihe Pacific in sgeneral

o

and the attention given to California in particular,

The first Amsriscans to take notiee of The Spanish provinss of

Al%a California werse merchantis of the larers comrercizl firms of Zoston.
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In the years immediately following the adeption of the Articles of Con-
federation, these men set out to open the Pacific to American merchant

ships., The first commercial vessel to visit the Far East on behalf of

the New England merchants was the Empress of China, which set sail for

Canton in 1784. The halfowner of this ship that visited the Orient was
Robert Morris, a prominent man in the newly found reputlic. Morris was
s0 pleased with the results of the first commercial visit to China that
he encouraged other wealthy entrepreneurs to send ships to the Far East.
He was aided in these efforts by the first tariff to te levied under the
Constitution, which provided for lower rates of taxation on American
vessels bringing tea from China. This early trade with the East increased
steadily during the last decade of the eighteenth century, largely as a
consequence of favorable tariffs and the efforts of New England merchants
to secure an opening in the Pacific, Between 1795 and 1810, imports from
China grew from just over $1,000,000 to 5,745.000.1 The China trade re-
mained a small part of total imports during these years, and it was
probably for this reason that a government in search of new revenues kept
the tariffs on Chinese goods low., The China market began as a low risk
venture from the govermment's point of view, but the possibility of ex~
panding the embryonic trade relations with Canton were nct lost on mer-
shants or itrade officials. One way to lncrease the Thina market was iha
acquisition of a por:i on the Pacific Ccean, an idea thal begen as a
popular myth in the late eighteenth century and seemed nore feasible as
the volume of trade ilncrzased.

Regional interests not only made Americans aware of Califernia
*n the sarly ninesteenth century, bul they also created problems for the
leaders of <the new nation., Even 2e
in 1790, differsnces of opinion existed as to what the United States should

io of the fodarzl governrert in chariing the fulurs courss

[ = A

. .
ne and the rc



k5

of the nation. The two rival ideologies have heen referred to as
Jeffersonian and Hamiltonian interpretations of the Constitution, both
of which grew out of regional commercial and political interests, as well
as the philosophies of Thomas Jefferson and Alexander Hamilton. These
sectional differences complicated national issues; what was good for the
commerce of the northeast was not necéssarily beneficial to the agrarian
economy of the south. The result was a northern preference for protective
tariffs and internal improvements through federal aid, as proposed by
Hamilton, and a southern preference for low tariffs and less federal
interfefence in the affairs of the states, Jefferson's position on the role
of government,

What to do with the unsettled portions of the continent was also
& point of contention between the politicians who represented various
regional interests., While three and sometimes four major European powers
had claims on portions of the North American continent in the first half
of the nineteenth century, actual physical seitlement of the vast wilcer-
ness was sparse, to say the least. Zut the west was there, and Americans
were moving into it in ever increasing numbers. Thomas Jeffersorn was the
£ipat President of the United States to address seriously the question
of what to do about the uncharted forests and deserts west of the
¥ississiopi River. Jefferson's firm btelief in the democratic instituticns
of the country and his own agrarian backround originelly limited his vision
of American expansion to the Mississippi; the land beyond would be useful
for Indian sebblements to keep the savages awzy from the civilized world.
Tris view changed in 1803 with the purchase of the Loulsiana Territery
from Francs. In that year Jefferson sent an expedilion to explore the

racific Northwest headed by william Clark and Meriwether lewis. The
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purpose of ths mission was ostensibvly scientific, but the Iure of
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East trade was implicit in Jefferson's orders; the explorers were
".eeto explore the Missouri river, and such principal streams of it as
by its course and communication with the water of the Pacific Ccean may
offer the most direct and practicable water communication across this
continent, for the purpose of comnexrce. "<
The result of the first expedition to the Pacific Northwest was
an increase in hoth official and private interest in the commerce of what

was at that time the Spanish "South Sea.” Meanwhile, the natural re=-
sources of the Oregon territory, already manifest in the large fur trade,
encouraged an international competition for political control of the area
around the Columbia River., The existence of the British Hudson's Bay
Company, the Russian=-American Company, and John Jacob Astor's fur trapping
enterprise gave impetus to the American drive to the Pacific. Along with
the Lewis and Clark explorations, Astor's settlement laid the basis for
American claims to the Oregon Terriiory.

Besides the scientific information brought back by Lewis and Clark
and the claims that could now be made to the Cregon Territory as a result
of the expedition, their jJourney itself contributed to the westward move=-
nment of Americans. They had proved the feasibiliiy of moving beyond the
pale of civilizaticn into a reglon that had hitherto been part of a myth=--
s Northwest passage to China., Henry Nash Smith discusses the impact of

- r

+his sxploration in his book Virgin Land and concludes that Jefferson's

“m
trainchild gave the people zs a whole a vislon of a wild, untamed land,
veady to te subdued. "It gave tangitle substance to what had been nerely

an idsa, and established the irage of 2 highway =z2c¢ress the contirent

n the minds of anericans that repeated Tailures could not
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R i

gute ¢ cnglity was the endeavoer to culonize the mouth of the Columtia
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River by the New York merchant John Jacob Astor. Besides the fur
trapping business, Astor wroite that his objective in settling the area
around the Columbia River was:

vesto make an establishment at the mouth of Columbia

river, which should serve as a place of depot, and

give further facilities for conducting a trade across

this continent to the river, and from thence, on the

range of Northwest coast &ec., to Canton, in China,

and from thence to the United States....
The Columbia settlements of John Jacob Astor were one of the failures to
which Smith alluded in his book, for they had to te abandoned to the
British during the War of 1812. This was but a temporary setback to
American expansion, one that would be made up for during the 1830's and 4G's.

The boundaries of Jefferson's American Empire reached out to the

Mississippl River and later suggested the Rocky Mountains as the terminus
of the United States, These parameters on expansion, however, wers self=
imposed; Jefferson did not believe thal the ideal institutions of the
nation could survive too great an augmentation of territory. His re-
publican bias did, however, suggest that several independent states could
be erected on the North American continent, These states would te republics,
rooted in the Jeffersonian tradition of democratic government with as litile
power in the central authority as possible. The vision that the continent
would one day be filled with American colonisis was born in the mind of
Themas Jefferson, nurtured by the apparent ease of settling the wilderness
during the 1820's and 30's, and eventually came of age when Americans
roached the once distant horiszon in California. It was, in fact, the
Jeffarsonian pattern of colonlzation, a'squatters' rights imperialism,
that prevailed in the case of Texas and the Cregon Territery.
1%40's, many Americans believed that California teo would become tart
the nation as a result of what was known in the popular parlance =3 the

Texze Game.," Jefferscn's agrarian nationalism had its limits, out cnee
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the commercial interests of New England found expression in the years
following the War of 1812, expansion to the shores of the Pacific soon
became part of American foreign policy. George Dangerfield makes note

of this trend in his work entitled The Awakening of American Nationalismi

Thus the agrarian nationalism of Thomas Jefferson appears to
have stopped at the so-called deseri, an impassable barrier, which
only his agrarian colonialism is able fo overleap, and the
connection between Louislana and the Northwest in terms of
territor?al expansion and_o? the.Asian trade bggins to emgrge nore
clearly in the necmercantilist mind of John Quincy Adams.

After an interlude during the War of 1812, the Americans con=-
tinued the drive to the Pacific for the China trade under ithe aegis of
President James Monrce. One facet of the desire for a port on the
Pacific was the final agreement between the United States and Spain in
1819, pertaining to the border between Mexico and America. The idams-
Onis Treaty obtained the territory of Florida along with a claim formerly
neld by Spain to the land between the 42nd and 4Gth parallels. Once again,
the shadow of the China trade and concurrent need for a port at the mouth
of the Columbia River was uppermocst in the mind of Secretary of State
John Guincy Adams. Adams was convineed that America needed a port on the
Pacific for the extension of trade to the Far East, and the diplomatic
erisis in the wake of the South American revolultions provided the United
States with an opportunity to issue a statement with the dual purpose of
preventing European colonization in the western hemisphere and reserving
the remainder of the North American continent for American Settlement,
The Monroe Doctrine, then, represented not only an ideslogical stand
against pessible European intervention ir Forth and South America, but
14 also reflected the strong influence of the New England merchants and
e desire on the part of government afficials to increase the Chinz
tvada, That Adams became convinced that America had a right to a Facific

nort was cvidert in hiis enrrespendsnce with Richerd Rush, amtaszador to
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Great Britain., "It is not imaginable...that any Eurorean Nation should
entertain the project of settling a Colony on the Northwest Coast of
America..., " Adams wrote in July 1823. “That the United States should...
is pointed out by the finger of Nature, and has been for years a subject
of serious deliberation in Congress."7

Other than the extension of trade tc the Far East, the incentive
for Yankee merchants who first visited the Pacific coast to do business
there was provided by a small fur-bearing creature known as the California
Sea Otter., The British explorer Captain James Cook wrote about these
animals after his 1776 visit tc the Pacific. The effect of this publiecity
on the sea otter trade was great. Spanish merchants had already taken
large numbers of otter peits tc the Far East on the annual galleons
which plied the waters btetween Manila and California., Over a flve year
period, 17861789, 9,729 pelts were sent to Manila on the Pacific galleon.
The market for this fur trade was China, where the going price for a
single pelt varied between 80 and 120 dollars. After Cook published the
stories of his travels in the great Pacific Ccean, the best kept secret
of Spain's commercial hold on the South Sea trade was secrst no more--
American merchants began to smuggle sea otter pelts out of California in
17968

The task of treaking down the mercantilist btarriesrs to trade in
the Pacific was not an easy one, American merchants ccnducied a clardes-
+ine trazde with California Indians srd did some hunting of sea otiers on
their own in spite of Spanish laws prohititing such actions. It did not

tzke the Spanish long to recognize the Yankee threat tec their monoroly,

v

=rd American shins which came inito California ports under the pretext o
Ly

revlenishirg their =upplies were denied permission “o lard men fop this

forts of tre 3nanish, there wers geversl
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zlternative metﬁgds of procuring the much sought after otter pelis from
the coastal regions of the Californias; and the American traders tried
several methods during the peak years of the fur trade, 1803-1820,

The most efficient means to hunt sea otters available to the
Americans was the contract system between the Russian outpest at Sitka
Island and the Yankee ships of the large Boston firms. American merchants
hireéd out Aleut Indian hunters from the Russians, transported them to
the hunting fields along the coast of California, and split the catch
evenly with the Russians. This system offered both parties the chance
to make rather good profitis and created a symbiotic relationship; the
Russians got the transportation they lacked to reach the California
hunting grounds, while the "Boston men," as Americans were often referred
to, utilized the expertise of the Aleuts to provide them with larger
catches ithan would ba zossibls ctherwise, Following the estatlishment of
the Russian outpost at Zedega Bay in 1812, there was no need for the
Russians to deal with thz American sea captains, and the contract system
was terminated. This left the Russians with a viriual monopoly on sea
otter hunting along the coast szince the revolution in Mexico ended Spanish
shipping veiween California and the Far East, and the Alsuts did net coine
ashore long encugh tc be pacified by tne Galifornians.9

after a brief hiaius in sea otier hunting during the War of 1812,

Vankes merchantmen rafurned to the Pacific and cratinued to widen the

1

breach in Spaln's mercantilist hold on the trade of the South Sea. Yew

Spain was in the throes of revoluticn, but the only effect on California

[

az2s of Tocd and manvfactured
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less, the Sranich suthoritias in Califormnla wers telier prerared Lo cumiat
sentralasd trade, evan with the neager vesources ait their disgoscl; and



5l
of these better enforcement efforts. 1In 1816, 21 American sailors were
prisoners of the Spanish Crown. One captured American sea captain, a man
by the name of Wilcoks of the Traveller, objected to the restrictive
policies of the Spanish in California. Noting the widespread shortages
among the Spanish residents of the Pacific coastal provinces, Wilcoks
argued that his activities should be considered a service to the King
of Spain, not a crime. Yankee merchani ships brought much needed supplies,
according to Wilcoks, and his statement at a hearing in his own defense
gives some indication of the extent of these shortages along the Pacific

coast:

It is true that I have sold my goods in California, but in no
other part of Spanish domains have I done it, and I am glad that
the ‘zuilt for this upon myself, if it is guilt to give something
to sat to the hungry, and ta clothe the naked soldiers of the King
of Spain, for it is well known that not only in California but here
in Guadalajara and Mexico that there was not one grain in Loretc
for supplies on the first occasion that I was there, and that in
that presidio and all those of California most of the soldiers and
other people could not go to Mass because of lack of clothes, and
that also the most Reverend Fathers had neither vestiments nor
ornaments appropriate for the use of the Churches, nor tools to

$i1l the fields.l0

The oroblem of shortages continued to plague California sven after the
revolution, but it became clear that American sea captains would continue
to risk impriscnment in order to get sea otter pelis from the Californians.

When the supply of sea otters began to diminish in the 1820's,
nuch of the slack in the American trade was taken up by Califernia hides
and tallow, Large Dosten firms, sueh as Zryant ard Sturgis, nerfzcted
the practice of taking otler pelis from the Califcrnians as partial payment
for goods thay brought from China. American merchants began to seitle in

Aa]i%erniz Lo take advantage of the steadily increasing trade in cattle

disappear complately during bthe 1520°s and 43's, however, bMexlcan Jaws
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now encouraged its citizens itc hunt otters and created stiff penalities
for illegal hunting. Merchant ships continued to carry pelts to China,
albeit in fewer numbers, as late as 1848. The hide and tallow industry
probably provided for a greater volume of trade and may have been more
profitable than the otter trade, but one cannot deny the importance
of this marine creature in attracting American merchants and directing
United States' foreign policy to the Pacific., Adelé Ogden, author of

The California Sea Ctter Trade, sums up the impact of this trade on

American Pacific policy:

The first call for a United States warship 'to afford protection

to our commerce and citizens' came from one of the leading

American merchants in the Hawaiian Islands who had vessels engaging
in the otier trade....The first known petitlon for a United

States consul was respectfully solicited 'with others, my fellow
citizens, resident merchants in California, 'by Johnathan Warner

who established himself financially on the coast through otter
hunting.

The idea of a Pacific port to enhance American trade with the
Far East began with Jefferson and grew greater during the administrations
of Monroe and Jonhn Quincy Adams. As the hide and tallow trade waxed
on the Pacific coast, so too did American attempts to cbtain a port
there. The Columbia River proved unsuitable for this purpose btecause of
its distance from "civilization" and the fact that the mouth of the
Columbia was difficult to navigate., Britisnh claims to the area also nmade
the establishment of a port in the Cregon Territory doubtful until
Anericans desided they were willing to fight for it during the 1840's,
Qalifornia, on the other hand, scemed hardly a part cf lexico=-it was
rebellious, unprofitable under the present governrsnt, and too distant
from the caplital at Mexico City to be trought uncer effectivs centrol.

- " *
o i

Yhile the idea of creating an "Empire on the Pacific’ had existied since

- +

+ha turn of the century, it was not uniil Andrew Jackeon hecame rresident

' - 3 iF 2 & A r 2o Tymey S o T aama
that the acquisition of a California port, narely San Francisco, hecame

P
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an explicit objective of American policy.

American ministers to Mexico City during the 1820's and 30's
were not the most diplomatic individuals of their day. Their appointments
were more often borm out of political patronage rather than any special
ability to deal with a foreign government. This was no less true of
Andwew Jackson's Chargé d' Affaires in the Republic of Mexico, Anthony
Butler. During his six years as official representative of the United
States, Butler succeeded in alienating just about every Mexican official
with whom he had occasion to deal.l2 In 1829, Butler was instructed to
purchase Texas from Mexico and settle the boundary dispute between that
province and its present mother country. Butler's dealings with several
Mexican officials failed to achieve the desired results. Some of the
Mexicans suggested Butler try to bribe the men who were "stumbling blocks"
to the American purchase attempt. When he reported to the State Department
in 1835 that $500,000 "judiciously applied” would secure a trsaly trans-
ferring not only Texas, but upper and lower California as well, the
President ordered Butler to return to the United States. The idea that
Mexican territory could be purchased did not end with Butler's recall,
however. President Tyler's agent in Mexice, Waddy Thempscn, continued
to send reporis to the President on the possibility of buying Mexican
'berri‘cory.l3

Following the failure of 3utler's ratner unorthodox diplomacy,
Tresident Jackscn attempted to purchase California acrth of the 38th
parallel in the mistaken bellef that it contained the much wantsd Bay
of San Francisco. Had the Wexicans heen willing to part with their real
estate, Jacksen would have succeeded in acguiring only a oorticn of the
sav on the Pacific, and %hat without an outleti to the sea. 3ut,

47, 500,00C was rot encugh tc persuade the lexican governmeni 1o paxt with
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their distant province. Where Jackson had failed in securing what was
seen as the most valuable part of the Pacific coasti, politicians of the
next decade would surpass his demands in an effort to create a continental
empire.

There was a hint of a new force in American political life
when Andrew Jackson made his Parewell Address in March, 1837. The growing
confidence in the republic, particularly its democratic institutions,
had created a greater national unity than heretofore. This growing belief
that the United States was a more perfect form of government manifested
itself in the idea that the Americans had z mission to save the world fron
the iniquitous monarchies of Eurgpe. Human rights and dignity could
only be saved by the democratic institutions of the United States; men
were free under the American flag because this natlon had been chosen to
fulfill a divine plan. Andrew Jackson alluded %o this concept of the
country's historical mission in his Farewell Address when he proclaimed
that Providence had selected the American people to te "the guardians of
freedom to preserve it for the benefit of the human race."14 This new
forece in American society, which was the ultinmate expression of an economic
ard agrarian nationalism, served to Justify the expansionist pelicies
of the politicians who led the nation during the 1840's. Newspaper
editor Jonn L. O'Sulliven gave this spirit the nomenclature by which it
became kxnows in an 1845 ediierial. 'Manifest Destiny" became the calch
thrase for a generation of Americans who sought ic increase the size of
the country a% the expense of iis neighbors.

The ideology of "Manifest Destiny” expressed American natlonalism
and zervaed to ratlonalize the acguisiiion of territoxy 1n the wesl,
Trafaanay Norman Craebrer, in the introducticn to nis hook Manifest

Destiny, arsues that this foree in Arerican scclety of ithe nineteenth

~ L
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cenftury was nothing more than political rhketoric. The sense of mission
in American history directed by divine Providence was nothing more than
a means to Jjustify the territorial expansion of the United States. "The

natural right_of the United States io a continental empire," according
to Graebner, "lay in its power of conquest, not in the uniqueness of its
institutions...." > “Manifest Destiny" was more than mere political
rhetoric, however, since it was widely believed by Americans at all levels
of society. Elements of this national ideology can be found in the
writings of promirent Americans, who tock it for more than a jusiification
of expansion. Men such as Thomas Hart Benton and John GQuincy Adams firmly
believed that in order.to become a great power, ports were needed on the
Pacific COcean to exploit the China market. These men zlso believed that
the United States had every right to the Mexican territories of ilhe west
because of the superior nature of American institutions and the natural
superiority of the Anglo-Saxon race. To dismiss "Manifest Destiny” as a
tool of the expansionists overlooks the complex nature of this phenomena,
The pattern of expansion for the American "Empire” roughly
folloved the Jeffersonian concept of agrarian expansion, yet dominance
of the trade routes of the west (what were then the Mexican borderlands)

and the Far Bast, wers common themes. The tradition of commercial interest

n *he Pacific has already been examined from a maritime perspective; but,

[N

one should note, there was another area which American merchants from a
different quarter sought to monopolize--the trade routes of the southwest,
specifically, the Santa Fe Trail, FProfessor Craetner roints cut that
with regard to the economic interesic of the United States, there were

two cities of empnire during the 1820's and b0's--Zcston and St. Louis.

In the 1892C'=z, the Mexican government opened the southwestern irade routes,

&

onee a mororoly of the Stanish Empire in Amsricza. Anerican merchantis
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took the opportunity to send manufactured goods and luxury items that
were hard to come by in Santa Fe, across the inhospitable deserts to this
new market. In spite of the difficulty of the long journey, profits were
good and the Santa Fe Trail became an American commercial highway within
a short time. Santa Fe was to the merchants and politicians of St. Louis
what California was to their counterparts in Boston--a market for
American goods which would better serve the interests of the nation

under the flag of the United S‘ba:tes.16

By the decade of the 1840's, the regional commercial interests
of both Boston and St. Louis were well represented in the govermment of
the United States. Daniel Webster, President Tyler's Secretary of State,
and Thomas Hart Benton, Senztor from Missouri, may have represented
different sections of the couniry, but they did sc for the same reason.
Both men were interested in furthering the commercial relaticns of the
United States with the Far East, and both were adamant about the acquisition
of San Francisco. At a time when British machinations seemed on the verge
of halting the American drive to the Pacific, so percelved because of
Great Britain's attempts to prevent Texas from Joining the Unicn and the
interest in taking California for the British Empire, Webster stated nis
preference for California as an area of vital American Irterest: "You know
my opinion tc have been and 1t now is, that, the port of San Francisce

w7

would be twenty times as valuable to us as all Texas, Eenton, too,
belisved San Francisco to b2 essential to the development of the United

States. Uis rationale was that the ration wnichk controlled the Asian irade

sation and zecome the
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inscribed on Benten's tombstone: "There is the East; there lies the road
to India." His notion of an American tommercial empire did not go to the
grave with him.18

In addition to the internal forces at work within the United
States which brought California to the attentien of the government, a
verceived international rivalry for control of the province also worked
on the imaginations of American statesmen. With the 1836 revolution
against the Mexican governor and the establishment of a semi-independent
government by Juan Bautista Alvarado, the possibility of foreign inter-
vention in California increased. American merchanis and proponents of
"Manifest Destiny," however, were not the only ones to take notice of the
virtues of the Pacific ports. Both France and Great Britain seemed to be
interesied in the stormy course of California’s pelitical relations
with the rest of the world. Eoth nations were represenied in the major
ports by a small number of merchants. The French were considered a
greater threat to the independence of California than they proved to bde.
This perception rested on a visit paid to the province in the eaxly 1840's
by a French naval officer, Duflot de Mefras. But the greatest threat
to the future of California in American eyes was the 3British., It was
Great Britain that cpposed American expansion every step of the way
across the North American contirent. They supported an indepsndent
Texas, prevented the acquisition of Cregon up to the s’ L0" line, and had
warships stationed off the coast of California as of 184C. BEritish
interests in all these areas were rzali since Mexico owsd a rather large

debt to Great 3Britain, <here was some italk of pay

1
e

ng off the debt by

siving California to Mexico's craditors. Aleng with the possitility of

e

cclenizing a large part of California wiih 2Zriilsh ard Irish nationals,

this heighitened +he sanse of urgency te oviain a
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politicians felt from 1842-1846, While Great Britain and France both
had commercial representatives in California, neither nation was willing
to go to war over this or any other Mexican province for that matter,
British foreign policy was directed toward denying California (and Texas)
to the United States in order to prevent the growth of American power in
Noxrth America and further encroachments on Eritish overseas markets. It
was to this end that British diplomats worked, sometiimes in concert
with the French, from 1838, the year of Texas independence, to 1846,19

If Great Britain and France had vested interests in California,
the American government had gocd cause to be concerned with the future
of that Mexican province on the Pacific as well. American traders and
trappers had oper;ted out of San Francisco and several other portis as
early as 1821, During the 1830's, the American community in California
had grown to perhaps 100 individuals, mostly men and mostly involved in
the hide and tallow trade which flourished in that decade. It remained,
however, a very small, tightly knit community whose main concern was the
continuance of their trade under a stable governmeni. The guestion of
sound government was the only one that plagued the American merchants,
for the Mexican government and lecal California authorities as well, were
anything but stavle during the early 1840's. The smzll group of "Boston
men" were joined after 1840 by a trickle of ploneers who sattiled in the
Sacramento Valley. Many of the coastal nerchants and inland farmers and
ranchers agreed that the status quo in California was satisfactory for

neither group; only = change of governments could bring the peace and

L} 3 2y e i e e - N .
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United States., The methods by which the change of flags was to be
achieved, however, differed among the American residents of Alta
California and the few Californios who went along with the idea.20

The ruling elite of California remained quarrelsome and divisive
in the period 1840-1846; aware that there were threats to their ine
dependence, but unwilling to take any kind of action to ward off foreign
intrusiens. Such was the case in 1842 when the American Pacific Squadron,
under the command of Commodore Thomas asCatesby Jones, captured Monterey
under the mistaken belief that the United States and Mexico were at way.
Jones took possession of the town on 20 Cctober 1842, returning it to
the California authorities the following day once the Commodore had Teen
convinced that no state of war existed. The California militia, under
José Castro, gathered at San Jose several miles from Monterey. The
mounted Californians came no cleser to the point of intrusien until Jones
admitted his mistake, and then joined in a fandango thrown by the
Governor in the name of good Mexican=-American relations. The lack of
opposition offered the Americans by California military forces was in-
dicative of the political instability of the province and lack of resolve
on the part of the leaders to risk ccmbat.21

The reaction of the Californians to the peaceful infiltration
of their province by American settlers was similar to the response to
the seizure of Monterey. The numbers of Americans increased tc about 700
by 1846; and among them were several agents of empire representating various
commercial and private interests, dedicated to the end of Mexican rule
over California., One of the most intriguing of these individuals was the
Swigs=born adventurer, Jonann August Sutter. Sutter arrived in California
in 1839 and was granted a tract of land in the Sacramento River Valley bty

Governor Alvarade. The Governcr, it seems, wanted to plant a thorn in
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the side of his wealthy uncle at Sonoma, Mariano Vallejo. Sutter became
more than this, for he was an inveterate borrower, living off the credit
extended to him by his fellow Californians. This created quite a bit of
tension between the founder of New Helvetia and the merchants of the coast;
but this did not deter Sutter from conselidating his landholdings by
building a rather formidable fort near present-day Sacramento and training
a contingent of California Indians in contemporary European drill and
ceremonies., Sutter became a Mexican government official in 1841; none-
theless, he encouraged immigration by Americans into his newly adopted
homeland without asking for any compensation for those who enjoyed the
hospitality of Fort Sutter. In spite of the benevolence Sutier showed
toward newly arrived American setitlers, his intentions were probably less
altruistic than they appeared. James Zollinger, author of Sutter, The

Man and his Empire, expresses the opinion that the "lord" of New

Helvetia was merely a "good Samaritan.” This Jjudgment must be balanced
by the fact that Sutter's welcome mat to the Americans had the effect of
furthering foreign settlement of California., Sir Ceorge Simpson of the
British Hudson's Bay Company noted that Sutier seemed to te an agent of
American imperialism in California:

The Americans, as soon as they become masters of the

intericr through Sutter's establishment, will soon

discover that they nave a natural rizht to a maritime

outlet; so that whatever may te the fate of Monterey

and the mere southerly parts San Francisco will, to a

moral certainty, ggoner or later fall in the possession
of the Americans.*<

4 oad
of fJalifornia was not solely a 2ritish rercertlon., Long-time residents
of 41*a California, American ond Mexican alike, 4id not discount the
roticn that the Urited States might wir tre vrovince oy fleooding 3t witn

nant, axdfourded this idea
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in his own writings: '"Once let the tide of emigration flow toward
California and the American population will soon be sufficiently
numerous to play the Texas game."23 This would result in the province
becoming more American than Mexican, and Alta California would change
hands by virtue of a blood transfusion, so to speak. The vision of
flooding the ports of California with immigrants did not come to pass,
however, since the incentive for colcnization remained low. Alta
California lay at the end of a long, tortuous trek across the deserts
of western North America. Oregon was much more attractive from the
perspective of American pioneers seiting cut across the c¢ontinent since,
by the 1840'8,-there were already quite a number of American settlements
in the Territory and the Oregon Trail did nct cross as much desert as
did the scuthern moutes to the Pacific. In spite of faveorable propaganda
by American residents of California, like Alfred Robinscon, only a
fraction of the men and women who set out for the west made California
their destination. On the eve of the Mexican=fmerican War, Americans
constituted perhaps 10 per cent of California's white population.

The problem that continued to confront residents of Alta
California in the 1840's was the instability of the Mexican, and, mcre
specifically, the Californian governments. One man who worked for a
better and more stable regime was a New England merchant bty the name of
Thomas Oliver Larkin. Larkin arrived in California in 1833 and settled
at Monterey, where he carried cn a2 healthy trade with groups as diverse
as American merchants and Mexican ranchers, His reputation for honest
dealing placed him in good stead with his fellow American merchants and
Nexican government officials as well, In 1843, Larkin was appointed
United States consul in Alta California, largely btecause of the good

relations he seemed %o have with the Californiocs, John A. Hawgeed,
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editor of First and Last Consul, describes Larkin as a man loyal to his

adopted country, yet one who was swept up by the tide of 'Manifest
Destiny." In May 1846, before word of the border incident in Texas
which prompted the outbreak of hostilities reached California, Larkin
sent a letter to newspaper editor James Gordon Bennet: "This country
(perhaps [sic] my hobby....We must have it, others must not.” The
American consul was clearly convinced that California's destiny lay not
~with the corrupt and ofttimes comic antics of the leccal government.
Only the United States could provide the requisite stability of government
through its benevolent, democratic institutions. Larkin made note of
the increasing dissatisfaction of the Californians with thelr government
in a letter to a fellow Bosion merchant in San Diego, Abel Stearns;

Their [the Californians] patriotism points that they still

belong to Mexico, but that feeling is continually leaving

every one who has his farm and cattle to take care of, and

will be but as a thing of other days, unless the supreem [sic]

Government lends California a helping hand in good faith and
for the actual good of the inhabitants.

Since no help of this nature was forthcoming in 1846, consul Larkin
dedicated himself to the protection of American interests, and encouraged
the Californians to seek the aid of the United States in establishing

a stable regime and putting an end to any outside threats.,

The activities of the American consul in Monterey reflected the
acquisitive policies of President James K. Polk. Conducting his camw
paign on an avowedly expansionistic platform, Polk had declared the
apnexation of Texas and all of the Cregon Territory to be prime objectives
of his administration. The importance of obtaining a port on the Pacific
coast to improve America's trade relations with the Far East were not
lost on the Tresident. Fis instructions te John 31idell, special envoy

to Mexico for the year 1845, are most revealing on this pointa
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The possession of the Bay and harbor of San Francisco

is all important to the United States. The advantages

to us of its acquisition are so striking, that it would

be a waste of time to enumerate them here. If all these

should be turned against our country, by the cession of

California to Great Britain, our principal commerc%%l

rival, the consequences would be most disasterous.
Polk's message is clear. California was essential to improving America's
commercial relations in the Pacific., San Francisco became an imperative
in the mind of the President because of the recent success of Caleb
Cushing, a New England merchant of fire diplomatic talents, in
negotiating a treaty with the Chinese giving American merchants access
to ports opened by the British as a result of the Cpium Wars. The
United States received several other concessions, including a promise of
"most favored nation" status in the Treaty of Wanghia, in 184%. With
a port on the Pacific, American trade advantages in the Far Fast would
be, in the words of Fresident Polk, "striking."

The methed by which California should be ottained remained a
problem. In 1845, President Polk sent John Slidell on a special mission
to Mexico City for the purpose of restoring "those ancient relations of
peace and gocd will which formerly existed between the governments and

the citizens of the sister republics.” The 3lidell mission was prepared
to offer up to $40,000,000 for California along with assuming the claims
of American citizens against the Mexican government., Due to the volatile
nature of Mexican politics, however, the present government was unable

to recognize S51idell lest treating with the Americans bte taken as a sign
of weakness, giving the opposition parties an excuse for a rapid change
of government. Failing this, Polk directed Thomas Larkin to encourage
the Californios to sever all tiszs with Mexico. BSecretary of State Janes
Zuchanan relayed the orders to Larkin:

Whilst the Fresident will make no effort arnd use rno influence +to
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become one of the free and independent States of this

Union, yet if the people should desire to unite their destiny

with curs, they would be received as brethren, whenever this

can be done, without affording Mexico just cemplaint.
Polk, it seemed, was playing the "Texas game,"” but with a populafion
not entirely of American de_scent.26

In 1845, California welcomed, rather reluctantly, the

American explorer and adventurer, John Charles Frémont. Frémont was a
captain in the Army toﬁographical engineers. Born the illegitimate son
of a prominent Virginia woman and a transient French schoolteacher,
John Charles had made a name for himself by leading explorations of
American western territories and making several side trips into the
Mexican borderlands. His marriage to Jessie Eenton, daughter of
Missocurl Senator Thomas Hart Benton, furthered his prestige. BRBenton
was also chairman of the Senate Military Committee. Frémont's third
expedition to the weét in 1845 brought him to California at the head
of an armed band of 63 American soldiers and frontiersmen. This was
hardly a scientific party, from the Californian point of view; thus the
military commandante, José Castro, requested that Frémont leave the
province., His letter, written in a discourteous tone, accused Fremont
of stealing animals and his men of improper conduct toward some
California ladies. This angered Fremont and prompted the explorer to
take an unprecendented course of action=-he fortified Hawk's Feak
northeast of Montersy and refused to leave, After four days on the
_ mountain and in the face of increasing numbers of California militiamen,
Frement retired northward into the Oregon Territery. The California he
left behind cn March ¢, 1846, was on the verge of a new crisis,

Rumors had been circulating since the Fall of 1545 that the

United States and Mexico were aboui tc gc to war., The tensions tecame



65

greater when the Mexican government refused to receive John Slidell as
President Polk's special representative to setitle the differences between
the two countries. This, along with Frémont's rash actions in March of
1846, created a paranoia about foreigners in California. On April 11,
a junta of military officers met in Monterey and decided to fortify the
northern California towns, naming the military commandante, José Castro,
commander of all the armed forces in California. Under the circumstances
this was not a bad move, but the Junia neglected to consult with the
governor of Alta California, Pio Pico. The officers at Monterey did in-
vite the governor to join the forces gathering in northern California, but
the damage was done; Pice considered the meeting a treasonous act, made
quite a fuss about it, and prepared to march north at the head of his cwn
forces, with the intention of attacking Castro's troops. The factional
strife that kept California divided in the past appeared once again at a
time when unity of purpose was most needed.

Captain John C. Frémont returned to California in May to
find that rising tensions nad created the atmosphere for a revolutlon.
The rumors about American designs on their Pacific paradise provided the
California authorities with an excuse to seize the lands of all non-
citizens., A declaration to this effect was issued on April 17. Frénont
received this intelligence by way of a Marine Corps cfficer, Lieutenant
Archibald Gillespie, who had been sent to the explorer by order of
President Polk. There has teen some debate as to whether Gillispie
brought verbal orders to Prémont giving nim permission to intervene in
California affairs, but no solid evidence exisis to confirm this.
Gillespie made his way to California via Mexico after memerizing the
instructiors given him by the Fresident. There is also the possibility

J v+ ~ 2
that the young farine gave Fremont some king of private messages from
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his wife and Senator Benton. Still, these would not have sanctioned any
of the actions taken by the Army officer in May and June of 1846, The
mést likely explanation for Fremont's intervention in Califormia's
turmoil, given his impetuous nature, is that acted on his own. The
combination of Californian proclamations against foreign settlers and
news of Taylor's advance to the Rio Grande, also provided by Lieutenant
Gillespie, prompted the explorer to return tec California.

As the Californians prepared to eject American settlers and make
war on each other, Frémont bided his time. He seemed convineed that
news of war between the United States and Mexico would arrive any day, but
was not bold enough to initlate hostilities on his own. instead, Frénont
waited for the forces of discontent among the Americans to turn
revolutionary words into action. He did not have long to wait. On June 14,
a small group of foreign settlers led by one Ezeklel Merrit slipped into
the town of Sonoma at sunrise and took control of the barracks. Capture
of this town yielded not only the contents of the arsenal, eight cannon
and 300 stands of arms, bdbut alsc made prisoners of Mariano Vallejo, his
brother, and two foreign ranchers. William B. Ide, an American, raised
the famous Bear Flag the following day. Frémont became involved after
the seizure of Sonoma and lent both moral and material support to the
rebels., Later he would take command of them when the Bear Flaggers became
the California Battaiion.

{ne attenpt was made to retake Sonoma when General José Castro
aalled out the militia and soldiers of California, about 4CO of them
according Larkin, and sent them in small groups to gather before the town.
Cne group of 60 or 70 men commanded by Captain Jjoaquin de la Torre rode
up the road toward Soncma but recoiled at tne sight of the 3ear Flaggers

galloping down upon them., The surprise was nutual and both parties retired,
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de la Torre losing two or three men in the process. The men who had
taken Scnoma received reinforcements and pursued de la Torre toward the
village of Yerba Buena on San Francisco Bay but could not overtake the
superior horses of the fleeing Californians. The insurgents kept the
Bear Flag aloft for 23 days until Commodore Sloat of the Pacific Squadron

0
intervened on July 7, 1846.3

The environment for a change of governments in California re=-
sulted from the failure of local political leaders to rule without re-
sorting to factional warfare. Although indecisive, the battles between
the northern and southern aristocracies detracted from the ability of the
governor to provide stability in the territory. The presence of a sizable
community of foreigners increased tensions by drawing outside powers, such
as Great Britain and the United States, into a position where they were
obliged to defend the interests of their citizens. This was the raticnale
behind the establishment of the British Pacific Squadron in 1840 and the
increased American presence in California waters during the same pericd.
The fact that California was endowed with strategically located portis was
evident to the great trading powers cf Europe and the United States since
the eighteenth cantury., This also heightened intermatiornal interest in
California during the 1830's and 40's. Commodore Thomas apCatesby Jones'
1842 seizure of Monterey illustrates not only American designs on
California; but, seen in the context of competition beiween Great Eritian
and the Ynited States, this incident shows a lack of respect for Mexican
sovereignty and an appreciation of California's importance in the Pacific
trade, It also demorsirates the difficulty of mainiaining effective con=
trol over naval forces staticned so far from hone waters.

The Bear Flag revol: was an expression of diszatisfaction with <he
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present government of California, the work of a small number of men
backed by an American Army officef. The United States was one step
closer to achieving a continental empire. All that remained was the
occupation of the province by naval and land forces, or so it seemed,
The dreams of New England merchants and the "divine will" of "manifest
destiny" were about to be fulfilled. In Washington, Secretary of State
James Buchanan had already raised the gquestion of California's role in
the American Empire, "How should we govern the mongrel race which in-
habit it," he asked? The press, too, was concerned with the fate of

California in the present war with Mexico. The Illinois State HRegister

for July 10, 1846 carried the following sentiments of the popular per-
ception of what California was and what it could become:

Shall this garden of beauty be suffered to lie deormant

in its wild and useless luxuriance...? [As United States'
territoryd it would almost immediately be made to blossom
like a rose; myriads of enterprising Americans would flock
to its rich and inviting prairies; the hum of Anglo=-American
industry would be heard in its vales; citiles would rise upon
its plains and seacocasts, and the resources and wealth of
the nation be increased an incalculable degree.

Newspaper editors may have predicted California's fate as early as the
Summer of 1846, but the actual battle for Mexico's far-flung territory

had yet +to be decided.
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CHAPTER IV

WAR ON A SHOE-STRING

The Campaign for Alta California,
July l84b-January lEH7

War’s great events lie so in Fortune's scale,
That oft a feather's weight may kick the beam.

Rev. Walter Colton
American alcalde in
Yerba Buena

The conquest of California in 1846 was the outcome of years of
American westward expansion and international competition for a port on
the Pacific. When intervention in California's civil war by the United
States' Pacific Squadron finally came, the results seemed too gocd to be
true. In a matter of days, Monterey, Sonoma, Sutter's Fori, and the Bay
of San Francisco were all in American hands. Less than two months later
southern California too was under the shadow of the "Stars and Stripes.”
This success was short-lived, however, since an uprising by the residents
of Los Angeles threw the Americans on the defensive and required a secend
campaign in the south to subdue the Californics. Alta California'’s war
ended, for all intents and purposes, in January 1847 when John C. Frénont
negotiated the Treaty of Cahuenga with the Californian leader, Andres
Fico.

The Vicissitudesrof the sevensmonth war in Alia California
affected both the Americans attempting to wrest the province from its owners
and the Californizns who nade several noble attempts to reccncile the
differences among themselves. Several factors account for the rapidly

71
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changing fortunes of the antagonists. These include the geocgraphy of
Alta California, conflicting personalities within the two armed forces, and
logistical limitations which made the movement and concentration of forces
difficult. The Mexican-American War in California also represented the
clash of two unique frontier institutions. The California militia was
the product of more than two centuries of Spanish military experience,
modified bty 25 years of political independence and factional strife.
The American forces which ultimately subdued California were a heterogeneous
collection of sailors, soldiers, marines, and frontiersmen. A half-century
of maritime duties and wesiward expansion formed the traditions of the
several "branches" of the American forces, which coalesced into an
effective fighting force for the duration of the war in California, The
clash of these two frontier forces in Alta California constitutes the topic

of this chapter

The Mexican=American War in California began not with a bang,
but with a whimper. The province was already in a state of civil war when
the Anerican Pacific Squadron arrived in Monterey Harbor on 2 July 1E846.
Its commander, Commodore John Drake Sloat, was unaware that a state of
war existed between his country and Mexice since early May. There had,
however, been rumors of a clash of arms along the Rio Grande when Sloat
left Mazatlan, Mexico, in June. The orders under which Sloat acted had
veen issned ia the sumnar of 1.3%5 by Secreatary of the Navy George
Bancroft, directing the commander of the Facific Squadron to seize
Monterey and any other ports within the squadron's means, in the
eventually of war.

Upon his arrival off the coast of Jalifornis, Cormcdors Sicatl
received intelligence of the current situation in the prevince; this

included Fremont's zctivities throughout the spring of 164& and the Sear
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Flag Revolt of 14 June. Neither word of Mexico's announcemat of de=-
fensive war in April nor President Polk's signing of the declaration of
war on 13 May had reached the Pacific, Without confirmation of the many
war rumors, Sloat vacillated and refused to take any kind of action,
so the Pacific Squadron road: at anchor for five days. Sloat's hesitation
in this matter is understandable, for it had not been too many years
since Commodore Thomas ap Catesby Jones' abortive capture of Monterey
in just such & rumor=filled atmosphere. After conferring with Consul
Thomas O, Larkin and believing that Frémont's support of the Bear Flag
movement was officially sanctioned by some orders of which Sloat was not
aware, American forces finally intervened in California. On the morning
of 7 July, sailors and marines from the frigate Savannah landed and took
possession of the town. Don Mariano Silva, the militeary commandante,
told the Americans he had no authority to turn Monterey over fto the
Commodore, but the american flag was raised just the same with a 2legun
salute from the ships in the harbor. The war in California was off to a
rather inauspicious siart.

When the Pacific Squadron arrived in July, California was in
the midst of a civil war. The Bear Elag Revolt of June 1846 placed a small
group of American and foreign settlers tacked by John C. Frémont in centroll
of the northern settlement of Sonoma and Sutter's Fort in the Sacramento

Valley. Jose Castro and his mixed force of vagueros and rancheros were

encamped at San Jose, while Governcr Pio Pico remained in the south at
Los Angeles., Both men were too suspicious of each other to cooperate
against the rebels at Soncma and so had kept apart for nearly a month.
The American intervention forced the rival Californian leaders into a
temporary alliance. Castro made his way south with his retinue to await

the next move by United States forces.
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The Americans lost no time in occupying the remaining ports in
northern California but failed to agree on a plan of operaiions to con=-
quer the south. Yerba Buena was occupied on @ July by a detachment from
the sloop Portsmouth, and the American flag was raised over Sonoma the
same day. By 11 July, the Americans were in control of Bodega Bay and
Sutter's Fort, being aided at these two places by Frémont's rebels.

Meanwhile, CPT Fremont and his second in command, Lieutenant
Archibald Gillespie of the Marines, met with Commodore Sloat on the
Savannah to hear the latest orders from Washingiton regarding the ocutbreak
of war. There had been no new orders since June 1845, Sloat and Fréhont
met seeking justification for each other's acticns, but found themselves
acting without orders from a higher authority. Neither officer was
satisfied by the meeting, and Sloat considered withdrawing from the
province altogether when he learned that Frémont had acted without orders.
For a time it seemed Sloat would be held responsible for another mis=~
taken seigure of Monterey, but he had an alternative. After 30 years
of service in the Navy, the Commodore was ready for retirement. On 15 July,
the frigate Congress arrived at Monterey with Slcat's successor,
Commodore Robert F. Stcckion, on board. Stockton had orders to take
command of the Tacific Squadron if Sloat determined to turn it over te
him, but was as ignorant of the state of affairs between the United States
ard Mexico as the man he was sent to relieve. E&ix days later, 3locat
ended his long naval career and sailed for Washington on the sloop Levant.

With Stockton in comnmand of American forces in California, there weuld be

2
no withdrawal.

Commodore Stockion took command of the Pacific Sguadron on 23 July
and immediately set about reorgarizing his forces. His first actlon was

"the Califerniz 2attalion of

w0

to enroll Fremont's irregular forces &
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United States troops," promoting Fremont to Major commanding the unit
and Lieutenant Gillespie to captain. This was still not a legal force
since an Act of Congress was required to allow for payment of the troops.
Regardless of its status, the California Battalion would play a vital
role in the upcoming campaign for California.

Stockton's second task was to conduct an expedition for the
conquest ¢f southern California. With no Mexican vessels in the area,
the Americans enjoyed undisputed control of the coastal waters. Stockion
took advantage of this by planning a two~pronged assault on the city of
Los Angeles from the sea. The California Battalion embarked on the
sloop=of-war Cyane on 25 July at Monterey and arrived at San Diego four
days later. Fremont and his 1éC-man force set out at once for Los
Angeles. Stocktcn himself led the second contingent of American forces

consisting of 360 men of the Congress and Savannah, which landed at

San Pedro on 6 August. Leaving a 100-man garrison at San Padro,
Stockton marched on Los Angeles on 11 August after taking time to gather
enough horses and cattle to supply his force, and listening to the re-
peated calls for a truce by Fio Fico.

There was brisf interlude in the preparations for war at the
beginning of August when Consul Larkin urged Stockion to treat with the
Californians. Larkin corresponded with a fellow merchant in San Diego,
who had close contacts with Pico and other prominent Californians., The
American Consul wanted the Californics to form a new government and ce-
clare themselves an indeperdent protectorate of the United States. In
this way they could maintain some political power and the ability to
negotiate in an uncertain situation--no one yet knew for certain that
the United States and hexico were at war,

Tn this initiative Larkin was folleowing his oxders from the
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State Department to encourage the Californians to shift their allegiance
to the United States; but Stockton would have none of it. He refused
to meet with the Californians demanding instead that Pico recognize
Stockton's authority without conditions.

With no room left for negotiating, both Jose Castro and
Governor Pico fled to Sonora, accompanied by many of their men; the
remnants dispersed or surrendered on 14 August and were parocled by the
American commander. The Californians, it seemed, had been divided for
too long and could not put up an effective resistance. Southern

4
California fell to the Americans without a struggle.

Once the Californics had been vanquished, it remained for
Commodore Stockton to install some form of government to replace the
erratic rule of Pio Pico and Jose Castro. In a series of proclamations
from 14 to 22 August, Stockton outlined the rules he intended to enforce.
California was declared a territory of the United States and pui under
martial law until civil zuthorities could be elecied on 15 September.

The Commodore declared himself military governcr of the prevince and
appointed Fremont the civil governor and commander of American forces

in norihern California; Gillesple was made deputy governor and commander
of forces in southern California., Stockton alse drew up a constitution
for the newly won territory, but never published it. This document was
sent hack to Washineton along with reports of the naval ccnquest,

Wwhat is interesting to ncte about Stockton's actions during
the month of Ausgust is that he had no authority to esiablish a civil
government, “ord of the American declaraticn of war arrived ati Monterey
or 12 August and could nect have reached Los Angelss before the 15th. 3By
this time th2 Amsricans were in conirol ¢f thes rebsilious souihern
£

territcry and Stockton was formulating his plans for administering the



77

province. The Commodore acted on his own, without orders from
Washington, from the time he took command on 23 July.

Stockton's military initiative in California was édmirahle,
but his attempt at creating a civil govermnment while planning offensive
operations against the west coast of Mexico was a bit too ambitious.
He withdrew ithe naval landing forece which had captured Los Angeles
at the end of August save for a 48-man garrison under the command of
Captain Gillespie. Having thus secured California, the Commodore prepared
for a naval descent on the western coast of lMexico at Acapulco, to be
followed by a rapid march on Mexico City. Such a rlan was too much
for the force at his disposal, which had the additional duties of
garrisoning Alta California and maintaining a bleckade on Baja California
and several ports on the west coast of Mexico. Stockton's failure to |
take into account the realities of the situation and decision to attempt
such an ambiticus project may have had something to do with his

character., K. Jack Bauer, in his Surfbecats and Horsemarines, describes

Stockton as "vain, overbearing, tactless, and gloryseeking."6 The
Commodore would have liked nothing better than to march on the enemy's
capital and make a name for himselZ, In spite of shortages of beth men
and material, Stockion asked Major Fremont to raise 700 men for the
expedition, a totally unrealistic number given the size of the Anglo
population in California, about 8CO in 1846, and the necessity of
maintaining a garrison in the major torts and cities. Stockton
continued into September to labor under the illusiorn of a quick and
glorious march on Mexico City when events in southern California
forzed a change in plans.

The ciudad Los Angeles in 1846 was populated with some cf the

Hy

nest unruly and unmanageabls residents of Califeornia. The city had a



78
reputation as a center of dissent and unrest even under Spanish rule.
About 1,500 people inhabitated Los Angeles at the time of the American
conguest in August 1846, most of whom seemed willing to tolerate the
new c¢ivil government Commodore Stockton had installed. What had not
been resolved by September of that year, however, was the exact status
of military and eivil laws. Elections for new government officials
were carried out on 15 September, but martial law remained in force, and
Stockton showed no sign of removing the strict regulations decreed in
Avgust.,

While Stockton readied his forces for a landing at Acapulco,
Captain Archibald Gillespie commanded the Los Angeles garrison of 48 men.
Gillespie was a good Marine who followed the orders given him by his
superior, Stockton ordered him to enforce a repressive set of martial
laws, including a 10 p.m. curfew and a rule forbidding more than two people
to gather on the streets during the day. Commodore Stockton thought these
precautions wise in the current situation, but events proved otherwise.

Even allowing for some leniency toward those citizens who be=
haved according to the laws, Gillespie and his men failed to win the
respect of the Californians. Unaccustomed to such strict laws, the people,
turned against the garrison. On 23 September, a group of €5 Californians
and Mexicans attacked Captain Gillespie's headquarters located in an adobe
government house. The garrison beat off the first assault, but the
Californians grew in numbers. 3By the end of the day, 140 insurgents
kept a watch on Gillespie and his men. A few ddys later there were clcse
tec 400 of them. Meanwhile, the Americans lost no time in fortifying their
neadquarters and the surrounding buildings, but the superior numbers of
the enemy proved too much for the tiny garrison., Gillespie withdrew tc

Fort Hill overlooking the town and took with him two & pounder cannons.
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Unfortunately for the Marine officer, there was no water supply atop
the hill. Gillespie negotiated a surrender agreement with his opponents,
a very generous one at that, and marched out of the town on 30 September
without loss to his force. The Americans were permitted to keep their
arms and were to turn over their two field pileces upon reaching San
Pedro on the coast. Gillespie and his party embarked on the American
merchantman Vandalia af'ter spiking the cannon formerly promised to the
Californians. He rationalized this action at the time by c¢laiming
the rebels failed to provide beef for his march to the coast and thus
broke their part of the agreement. The results of the bloodless August
conguest wefe wiped out in a fortnight. By the end of September, the
Americans were ousted from San Diego and Santa Barbara. Los Angeles
became the center of resistance for the rebellion which swept the southern
part of the province, under the leadership of Ceneral Flores and a cousin
to the eX-governor by the name of Andres Pico.

Word of the reveolt in Los Angeles reached Commodore Steckton
on 30 September., He was most distressed at hearing news of the rebellion,
more for the disruption of his own plans to invade lexico proper than
for the loss of scuthern California. Bul the Ccommedore did nct hesitate
to take action. He immediately ordered Captain Willilam Mervine of the
Savannah to sail for San Pedro and march inland to relieve the
beleagusred garrison at Los Angeles. DNot knowing that Gillespie had
already surrendered, Mervine set sail from Menterey on 3 Cctober,
arrivirg off San Pedro three days later, There he met with Gillespie
aboard thke Vandalia and prepared a landing for the next morning. HNervine
decided tc march to Los Angeles in order to put an end to the rsvolt.
The forece avzilable fTor the task consisted of 225 sailors and marines

fyom the Savennah whe were armed with an assortment of muskets, carbires,
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boarding pikes, pistols, and cutlasses., Gillespie's force plus some
adventurous souls from the Vandalia brought the total to 299 men. With
this ad hoc unit, Mervine and Gillespie set out on 7 October to
reconguer southern California.

The American naval landing force marched inland for 12 miles
on the 7th and encamped at the deserted rancho of the Dominéuez family.,
Here Captain Mervine learned a costly lesson in California warfarse.

The Americans were without horses and had obtained orly a few catitle
from the Domiﬁguez ranch, The Californios on the other hand, were well
mounted and had determined to deny their enemy the same mobility they
enjoyed by stripping the countryside arcund San Pedro of all livestock.
José Antonio Carrillo, the Californian commander at San Pedro, observed
Mervine's advarce from a distance and harrassed the Americans after
nightfall. While his tacties of firing rifle and cannon shots into

the rancho/encampment of the Yankees caused no casualties, Carrillo
sufficiently annoyed Mervine to cause the latter to send some of
Gillespie's men out into the darkness where the only shots they fired
were at other Americans.

After an uneasy night, the Americans continued the march on
Los Angeles only to find Carrillo, reinforced to about 1CC horsemen,
blocking their way. Takirng advantage of the superior horsemanship
and mobility of the Califcornians, Carrillo deployed hls men on the
far bank of a dry creek, with a b pounder artiliery piece hooked up
to 8 or 10 horses in the center of his position. As the Americans
advanced, Carrillo's lone gun opened fire. 1L tcok three shots before
the Californians got the range, but the results were well wortn the
walt, Zach tinme the small, mchile gun discharged a rcund, 1t was

withdrawn several yards to prevent its capture by the Americans, who
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tried desperately to seize it. After three or four unsuccessful
charges, Mervine ordered a retreat to the Dominguez rancho. His losses
that day were 10 men wounded, four of them mortally.9

Captaln Mervine consulted Gillespie and his officers on the
evening of the 9th and decided to retreat ito San Pedrc. The lock of
artillery in the American force and the Californians' superior mobility
precluded any thought of continuing the march toward Los Angeles; i¢
reach the rebellious city would place the Yankees out of communication
with the Savannah, at the mercy of the enemy in the midst of a hostile
population. Why this had not been forseen can only be guessed at. The
fact that the Califcrnians had not previocusly put up a fight may have
been one reason for Mervine's decision to advance on Los Angeles.,
Nonetheless, the project was abandoned; and the Americans returned to
San Pedro the following day. Mervine's total casualties for this
abortive campaign were four kilied and 10 wounded. The Californians
took no losses.,

Commodore Stockton abandoned his own plans for a campaign against
Mexico City after hearing of Mervine's repulse at San Pedro and took
his forces south to put down the insurgency. FHe prepared a combined
tand and nraval offensive on the rebel stronghcld by sending Fremont and
the California Rattalion overland to Sarnta Barbara and then on to Los
Angeles, while the Commodore led the naval wing of this twe=->ronged
assault first to San Diego, then northward to the otjJective. BSan Pedro
was fortified by a garrisor from the Savannah as Stockion continued south
to San Diego aboard the Congress. Onee there, he relieved the nine-
man garriscn, commanded oty Ezekiel Merrit, ard tock complete rpossessicn
of the town From Ferrit's hesisgesrs. Etockicn was Joined by the ships

Savannah, Pcrismouth, and Cyane in late Cclober and eaxly FNovemter,
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giving the Commodore a force of several hundred men to effect the
reconguest of southern California. The Americans were forced te wait
at San Diego for nearly two months, however, while horses, cattle,

and ammunition were collected for the upcoming campaign. Food was
plentiful, but the Californios had effectively denuded the countryside
of all livestock. Stockton's superior numbers was offset by his lack
of mobility; for, without draft animals, his force could not transport
the requisiie supplies needed for the long march to Los Angeles.,

The Americans were not the only cnes with supply difficulties
during the Fall of 1846, however., The lack of pay among the Californians
prompted them to imprison their leader, General Flores, on at least
two separate occasions. Flores was a Mexican and some of the native
Californios believed one of their own should be in charge of the situation.
Ammunition was 2 greater problem. K. Jack Bauer credits Flores with
having a supply of cnly 40 canncn balls and 100C musket balls during
the month of October.lo This was hardly ample for the approximately
4G0 men the Californians had under arms during 1846, 3Some additional
ammunition and gunpowder was produced at nearby missions, but the process
of procurement was a slow one and the powder was of infericr quality to
that used by the Americans. Twe advantages the Californians had in
southern California were mobility and a central position. Centinually
denied the livestock needed, the Americans were restricted o the ccastal
areas, unabtle tc venture out into the countryside for fear of being cut
of £ Wy Californian cavalry. Flores divided his trceps into three separate
commands. The first, about 100 horsemen, was staticned at San Luis
Cois=po to k=ep an eye on Fréﬁont, who was knewn to be on his way scuth
from Monterey. he second group of anciher 100 men patrolled the cut=-

skirts of San Diego to worry Commedore Stocktorn., The remaining 2CG0
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Californics under the command of Flores remained at Los Angeles as a
’, 12
reserve to counter any moves by Fremont or Stockton. The Californians
did the most they could with the resources avallable. As long as the
Americans lacked transportation, the Californian position remained
difficult to assail.

Commodore Stockton continued to gather his forces at San
Diego for the eventual drive on Los Angeles. The shortage of livestock
was alleviated by several forays into the surrounding countryside by
what few mounted men the Americans had at their disposal. The sailors
were drilled by their officers every day in the tactics of fighting in
what was for them an unusual environment. Commands to dress right and
form in columns of fours replaced the more famiiiar crders to raise and
lover sails. Shoes were manufactured in great numbers for the sailoers
turned soldiers, and wagons were assembled for the upcoeming march. These
preparations continued throughout November and the first days of December
when a messenger brought word to Stockton that the United States’

"army of the West" had just reached California and was refitting at
Warner's Ranch some four days march from San Diego. The Commodore's
yeacticn tc thisz latest development in the wer for California was mixed,
Here at last was some aild from the United States, and perhaps furthsr
orders that would change the status of American forcss presently under
the command of the senior naval officer.

The Army of the West was a part of national grand strategy in
the Mexican-Amsrican War, created bty rresident James XK. Yolk who had
ordered an overland expedition to warch from the frontier ocuizosts
along the Missouri River to capture ¥ew Mexico and Califcrria in June

dier Gezneral
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Kearny was a career man with over 30 years of service by the outbreak
of the war., He had been instrumental in the formation and training of
the First Dragoon Regiment in the 1830's, and had been the unit's
commander since 1836, In June 1846, Kearny was promoted to Brigadier
General and ordered to prepare a force to march across the southwestern
deserts, subdue the Mexican province of New Mexico, and push on to the
Pacific. The General also had orders to establish a military
protectorate and civil government upon reaching California. The Army
of the West, as Kearny's Dragoons and Missouri volunteer regiment of
mounted men were dubbed, left Fort Leavenworth on 30 June, 1846, 1In
September, the 1,658 man force captured New Mexico with little difficulty
and proceeded to fulfill several seccendary missions. Most of the army
remained in New Mexico on garrison duty, the Missouri regiment led by
Colonel Doniphar marched into Sonora, and Kearny continued on to
California with 300 men of the First Dragocns. On 3 October, Kearny
met the famous scout Kit Carson near Socorro, New Mexico, and learned
of the easy congquest of California by the Pacific Sguadwon. Carscn's
information was already dated, however, since he had left Los Angeles
on 15 September, one week before the Californian uprising. With this
intelligence, Kearny reduced his force by two-thirds and continued on
his march with just over 100 men, the reluctant Carson in the lead.
After a tortuous march cver dry, rugged deserts, the Americans arrived
at Warner's Ranch in California. Here they replenished their virtually
exhausted supplies and obtained new mounis in the form of mules znd
unbroken horses, Learning of the new situation upon his arrival at the

ranch, Kearny prapared hiz troops for the last leg of thelr journey
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azainst an enemy of unknown sirengtn.
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The Americans left Warner's Ranch on 4 December and met a small
force of 35 men under Captain Gillesple, which had been sent out from
San Diego to link=-up with the Army of the West. Nearby was a de-
tachment of some 150 Californios horsemen commanded by Andres Pico,
a relative of former governor Pio Pico. The Californios were apparently
unaware of the proximity of Kearny's men since Pico ordered about half
his force to a nearby village in search of livestock. He was carrying
out Flores' strategy of denying resources to the Americans to keep
them immobile., On the evening of 5 December, Pico camped in the Indian
village of San Pascual. That night some Indians trought word that a
large American force was only & few miles from San Pascual; but Pico
discounted this intelligence, for the only enemy troops thal could be
in the area were Gillespie's 35 men who Pico believed were on a cattle
foraging mission. Later on,the Californians were arcused by a sentry
who saw severzl men run off into the darkness. A closer inspection qf
the perimeter revealed a Dragoon's coat and blanket marked with "US M-
no more evidence was necessary. Pico ordered his men to horse anc
prepared for an attack.14

Ten miles away at the Rancho Santa Maria, Kearny contemplated
the results of an unsuccessful reconnaissance. The ceat and blanket
found by Pico's men belonged to a party of Dragcons sent to observe
3ap “ascual. Lieutenant Hammond, who had led the group, was careless
and let the American presence oe known. Kearny consulted with his
officers, Gillespie, and Kit Carson on what should be done now that
the element of surprise had been lost. A majority agreed that an
tpmediate attack should be launched btefore dawn. Hearny concurred and
ordered the Dragoons to mount at 2 a.m. The march to San Fascual in

st have Tteen easy under normal clrcumsiances;

5]

the dead of night would
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but in the wee hours of & December, it was complicated by a steady
drizzle which froze the men and dampened the powder of the Dragoon's
main weapon, the Hall's Carbine. This meant the Americans would have
to rely on their sabres in the approaching battle--not a pleasant
prospect against an enemy armed with eight-foot long, steel tipped
lances., The column got underway Just after Z a.m. All were anxious

15

to meet the Californians in their first real battle of the war.

A rough outline of the action at San Pascual can be re-
consiructed from several first-hand accounts by American survivors.
Before dawn, the Americans approached the enemy encampment and deployed
for tattle. Kearny ordered the column to trot toward the barely
discernible eremy line, but the lead element of 12 Dragoons misunder-
stood and charged instead. Kearny's men were mounted on an assortment
of mules and horses in varying degrees of control. The vanguard had
the best horses and soon widened the distance between themselves and
the main body. They wers subsequently the first Americans to engage
the Californian lancers. One volley was loosed from the Californian
line before the first 12 Dragoons crashed into it. Two men, the
captain in charge of the vanguard and a private, were killed by musket-
fire, the only Americans to succumb to enemy bullets that day. The
remaining soldiers in the American vanguard were either killed or
wounded before the main body arrived.

The main bedy of Kearny's force, about LO men in all, came
upon the Californian line and chased the enemy across the San Fascual
Yalley. It &id not take long for the Americans to te strung out along
the valley floor because of their unirained nounts. ODr. Jokn 5. Criffin,
assistant surgeon with kearny's expedition, described the outcome of

the charge in his diary:
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Capt Moor [E}.. ordered the charge to be continued and

it was in the most hurly burly manner=-not more than

ten or fifteen men being in line and over forty alto-

gether the¥ went however=-~the Enemy continued to retreat

for about § mile further when they rallied and came at

us like devils with their lances--being mounted on swift

horses~--and most of our firearms having been discharged

or missed fire from the rain of the night previous, our

advance was perfectly at their mercy.
The Californians made emcellent use of their superior horseman=
ship and lances at San Pascual. When they wheeled about and
fell on the disorganized Americans, the Californios outranged
their sabre-wielding opponentis by several feet. In the ensuing
melee, several Dragoons were lasocoed by reatas, dragged from their
mounts, and dispatched by the steel tipped lances. Most American
casualties, both dead and wouncded, had at least three and as many as
eight lance wounds. General Kearny was wounded in three places and
Captain Gillespie suffered a vicious chest wound and a smashed jaw.
The Dragoons fought back as best they could; using their Hall's car=-
bines as clubs they struck out at the enemy, attempting to knock the
Californians from their horses., This melee continued for about 30
ninutes until two cannon in the rear of the American column were brought
up and fired. Without artillery support cf thelr own, the Californios
fled leaving 18 Americans dead and 17 wounded, three of them mortally.
0alifornian losses were unknown since they wers able to withdraw with

o]

all their wounded and slain.

San Pascual was the blcodiest battle fought in Caiifornia
during the Mexican-american War. In his after action repcri, General
Kearry lishel the hattls as a victery for American arms; out the truth
The General celled Bar. Fascual

of the matter was much more compleX.

een left in contrel of the battlefield,

o

z victory by virtue of having

While this was true, the pesiticn of the Americanz after the battle
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was hardly that of a victoriocus army. There were 17 wounded men to
attend to and only one doctor to see to their needs. One officer,
Lieutenant Eammond, died several hours after the battle. In addition,
Kearny's force was still several hours away from San Diego in hostile
territory and without much in the way of food. The dragoons camped on
the vattlefield that night and marched a few miles the next day, taking
care not to make the wounded any less comfortable than they already
were. The night of 7 December was spent on a small rocky knoll, dubbed
Mule Hill for the animals that were killed and made into scup there.

Although word of the skirmish reached Commodore Stockton in
San Diego on the evening of the 6th, it was not until § December that a
relief force was sent to the aid of the dragoons after another message
pleading Kearny's desperate position. The Californians made only one
attempt to get at the Americans on Mule Hill by sending a herd of wild
horses to scare off the few cattle and horses in the Army of the West.
Appersntly, they intemded to force Kearny to surrender for lack of
supplies. Kearny prepared to march for San Diego cn the morning of
11 December in spite of the Californian horsemen that surrounded his
camp. At 2 a.m., a force of 225 sailors from San Diego arrived and were
cheered by the destitute scldiers. The united command marched into
3an Diego on 12 December.

There has been much debate over the years as to why Gereral
Kearny attacked the Californians at San Pascual and over the merits of
the decision., Kearny's service record prior to ihis battle shows him
to have taken few chances if the odds were not in nis favor. e was

a good scldier with a good head on his shoulders (which he came close

ot
o
g

losing at San Fascual), so why did he order an attack? The debate

W)

s t0 Kearny's abilities and intentions was warped by partizan political

m
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interests, particularly those of LTC Ff;mont and his father~-in-law,
Senator Thomas Hart Benton, both of whom tried to make the dragoon
commander look bad in order to Justify Fremont's actions in California
during 1846, In order ito explain Kearny's decision to fight, one must
take several factors into consideration.

First, by December the Americans were speiling for a fight.
After crossing hundreds of miles of desert without any contact with the
enemy, save the capitulation of New Mexice, the Dragoons desperately
wanted to kill some Mexicans. Several first-hand accounts, including
Dr. Griffin's diary and the report of a Topograpnical Engineer,
Lieutenant W.H. Emory, attest to this fact.

Second, the Americans were in need of good mounts, and there
was no better source of well-bred, well=-trained horses than the
Californians themselves. According to Dwight L. Clarke, Kit Carson
had an influential role in Kearny's final decision; the former dis=-
dained the fighting abilities of the Mexicans and did not belleve thenm
capavle of offering any kind of resistance, even to a 1CC-man force that
had just crossed the hostile deserts of the American Southwest. Clarke
also telieves that Xearny was unfortunate to meet Kit Carson in New
¥exico since the General would otherwise have taken an additional 200
men into California with him. Kesarany's decision to reduce his force to
100 men was a sound one under the circumstances and seems to be
justified by the difficuliies he had in leading even this small detachment
across the desert., All other thinzs beling what they were, the presence
of an additioral 200 men at San Fascual would not have altered the out=
come of the battleAgiVen the tactical advantages held by the Californios.
A larger force might, however, have intimidated the eremy intve aveiding

combat altogetherx.
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Finally, one must consider Kearny's determinition to reach the
Pacific and his overall numerical advantage. The total American force,
including Gillespie's party, numbered some 135 men. Of these, only
about 55 were actually engaged due to the impetuosity of the American
charge. The remainder of the "Army of the West' was out of action with
the baggage. In retrospect, this was also a sound decision since the
mounted Californians could have run=-off Kearny's livestock and all his
supplies were they not well-guarded. Just the same, one mule did bolt
during the battle and took a howitzer with him into enemy lines.

To judge San Pascual an American victory and a Californian
defeat is to ignore the realities of the situation. The casualties,
35 for the Americans and perhaps 11 for Pico, deo not support the positive
tone of Kearny's report. Although indecisive, the action at San Pascual
can be termed a tactical victory for the Californians since theilr
superior tactics, horses, and equipment succeeded in placing Kearny's
entire force in jeopardy. As Dwight Clarke argues, however, General
Kearny did succeed in accomplishing his mission of reaching California and
setting up a civil government. In this sense, San Pascual was 2a
strategic victory for the Americans, but only because the Californians
failed to follow up on their advantage. The divisiveness that plagued
california for vears once again prevented decisive action., Fico lacked
the resources to dislodge Kearny from hule Hill, while his troops lacked
the resolve for one more bloody encounier. As Andres Fice wrcie after
e wer in Alta California had ended: "...ihe moraie of the pecple
had fallen, due to a lack of resources....together with my compatriots
we made the last offorts, notwithstanding the extreme lack of powdex,

arns, men, and all kinds of
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With General Kearny and his Dragoons safely recuperating from
their ordeal within American lines at San Diego, Commodore Stockton
prepared for the final campaign aimed at capturing Los Angeles in
order to bring the war in Alta California to a conclusion. Throughout
November Stockton had busied his men with the task of stockpiling the
materiel of war. Powder, shot, and shell existed in sufficient quantity
to maintain the approximately 60C man-force at San Diege, but other
items were in short supply. Shoes were manufactured for the sailors

1]

who were often referred to as "Jack Tars." The supply of food was
enough to keep the men well fed while in garrison, but it was not until
the end of December that enough livestock could be mustiered for the long
march to Los Angeles. Kearny's quartermaster, Major Thomas Swords,
obtained some foodstuffs, medical supplies, and back pay for the Americans
from the Hawalian Islands. 3Zut Stockton was not able to improve upon
the armaments of this polyglot American force. There were few musketis
among the sailors and marines; most were armed with carbines, pistols,
boarding pikes, and cutlasses. The Dragoons had their trusty sabres
and by now dried-out Hall's Carbines, but no horses tc ride. When the
American force finally left San Diego on 29 Decemter, 1846, only &4 of
607 men were mounted., These were mostly voluniteers commanded by
Captain Archibald Gillespie.l

The days in San Diego tefore the march on Los Angeles began were
well spent for the sailors who were unused to soldiering. Commodore

1

Ztockton and General Kearny beth saw to it that the "Jack Tzrs" wers

o,

isciplined and well=-versed in the basic field movements of the day.
Cne man who was there and has left benind a remarkabvly well=-
written account of the days befors the march and the Los Angeles cam-

palegn itself was Josevh Downey, a common seaman on th2 sleop Forismouth.
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Downy described the daily drill routine of the sailors in a work that
Wwas probably intended for publication, but remained unknown until about
25 years ago: ''Fighting Bob' [Stockton] Was a gassy old Cove, and would
have 'his bullies' as he termed them out every day, drilling, charging,
forming hollow squares, and putting themselves in the best discipline."zo
The formation of a sqaure was vital in a campaign to be fought against
a mounted foe., The idea for this particular maneuver was apparently
Stockton's, since the sailors and marines had been practicing it before
Kearny's arrival. The inability of sailors to form a square was cne
reason that Captain Mervine had broken off his October march against
Los Angeles., Stockton's naval infantry seemed to take to this new
environment well, according to Dr. Griffir, who noted in his diary:
"The Jack Tars seemed highly delighted playing soldier...and did not
seem to be discontented with anything but the enemy, and with him they
were decidely in the humor for growling with because, he did not have
the decency to give them a fight vefore reaching cur camp."21

While Stockton and Kearny continued their preparations for the
march on Los Angeles, the American garrisons in noxrthern California
fought off several small-scale raids on local herds of livestock and
the boredom of garrison life--they were primarily cecncerned with the
latter., "The war here is not on a great scale," wrote Rev. lalter
Colton, the American alcalde at Monterey, "but it impinges, at certain
points, with terrific energy.”zz The war in the north took on a
different character than the revolt in the south. There was some concern
over the native Indians who had stolen horses from a ranche near San
Jose. An American force of 5C mcunted men recoversd then after a Lrief
skirmish, The effect of this action was a favorable one for the American

F . P . 9 S T . P U Wi proe
cccupiers of Alta Califcrnia. Cciton noted in his alary tnzat this was
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the first time in recent memory that a local government had rescued g
personal property and returned it to the rightful owners. Most
Californians were supportive of the new provincial government. When
Floves' revolt in September 1846 turned the southern portion of Alta
California intc hostile territory, only a few men irn the north jJoined
the rebel cause. The most noteworthy battle between Californians
and Americans tock place at Natividad in mid-Nevember, when an American
immigrant by the name of Burroughs and 34 men bumped into a group of
about 130 Californians. The battle lasted less than an hourAand resulted
in a total of 11 casualties for the Americans and an unknown number of
Californians. Since the Californians were shorit on supplies and not a
few apparently had been impressed into service by a group of parocle
viclators, the revolt in the north quickly fell apart. Those who chose
to continue the fight made thelr way south in small groups=-~the others
went home.

A more dangerous threat to the American occupaition of the
rorthern California ports was the method of procuring supplies conducted
oy Frémont and his California Battalion. Colton notes in his diary that
the natives of northern California who tock up arms against the Americans
did so irn order to protect their own properiy. The unsupervised collection
of war materiel by Frémont's men and some American settlers, without giving
the Californians receipts, was a greater threat tc the peacefud rule of
the north than the 130 or so rehels who operated there in Cctober and
Hovember., To reinforns thelr complaint seversl Californians captured a
faw Anerican settlers, including the recently elected alcalde of Yerbva
Buena, The problem wes settled temporarily by premiszing recsipis for
zllezedly oprocurad gocods in return for the relesase of the priscners,

but the issue of Jalifornia claims was not seitled until after the war
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when it was taken up in Congress,

By the end of December 1846, two American forces were in motion
toward Los Angeles. Ffémont, now a lieutenant-colonel by order of the
War Department, left Monterey on 17 November with about 475 men under
arms., He set a rather leisurely pace on his southward trek, in part
because of the shortage of livestiock, but also due to some intermitient
heavy rains., Commodore Stockton and General Kearny departed San Diego
on 29 December and began the 145 mile march to ciudad Los Angeles.,

The command structure of the southern force at this time was a curious
one. Kearny outranked Stockton and had been given specific orders from
the War Department to set up a civil government in California upon his
arrival. Yet since his arrival at San Diegc on 12 December, Kearny
deferred to Stockton allowing the latter to maintain command of the
territory. When the Americans left San Diego on 29 December, Stockton
was commander-in-chief, but Kearny went along as commander of the "Army."
Dwight Clarke concludes that Kearny declined to take over from Stockion
in early December because of the wounds he suffered at San Pascual.
This, along with the predominantly naval composition of the San Diego
Torce convinced Kearny not to assert himself until after the campaign.
As titular commander of the American "Army" in southern California,
Kearny actually exercised little authority on the march to Los Angeles.
This confused approach to the ccommand of the American force did nct
affect the conduct of the campaizn greatly, but would refurn io plague
the American occupaticn once the war in alta Califerniz had ended.25

The merch from San Diego to the San Gabriel River was uneventful,
tnough conducted with the slimmest resources possible. The entire force
sutsisted on half rations thnroughout the march, despile some additional

food procured at several points along the way. A herd <f sheep had the
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misfortune of crossing the path of the Americans on the second day and
became a £it meal for the hungry sallors and soldiers. Commodore
Stockton later noted:

Cur men were badly clothed, and their shoes generally

made by themselves out of canvas. It was very cold

and the roads heavy. Cur animals were all poor and

weak, some of them giving out daily, which gave much

hard work to the men in dragging the heavy carts,

loaded with ammunition and provisions, through deep sards

and up steep ascents, and the prospect before us w

far from being that which we might have desired.... 6
Despite these conditions, the Yankees marched on.

One event which did cause some concern toward the end of the
expedition occurred on 6 January 1847. A strong gale blew that night
and gave the Americans a taste of California dust. No meal could be
cooked because of the storm. 3Both Downey and Dy, Griffin mention the
vulnerability of the camp in the face of this wind, for the muskeis
and carbines were perfectly useless under such conditions. One false
alarm durirg the night sent the men scrambling for thelr arms and
brought them into a formation of sorts with backs to the wind. Downey
described the defenceless state of the American camp: "...when we were
ordered to 'right about face' every musket was down and every hand up to
the eyes, digging for dear life for day light or at least for sterlight

n2? Fortunately the Californians

and there we were forced ito stand.
chose not to venture out into such harsh weather.

Stockton's scouts reported the location of the enemy camp on
the evening 6f 7 January, prompting the Americans to prepare for a day
of reckoning. That night the Americans enjoyed their last meal tefore
the morrow, which would surely bring them to battle with an elusive foe,
A1l seemed anxious for a chance to meet the Californians in ccmoat and

win tack their hopnor from the ignominlous reverses at Les Angeles,

Domirgusz Rancho, and San rFascual. Seaman Ucowney Wrote aoout this
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pervading spirit on the eve of battle: "...we were one and all animated
by that indomitable spirit of courage and perseverance that has ever
been and ever will be found in the Breast of Yankees, from the first

ne8 Commodore Stockton

movement of the War of 1776 down to the present,
spent the night at a fandango in the camp with several local California
ladies in attendance, The next day, 8 January 1847, would test the

skills of the soldiers and sailors alike in a pitched battle with the
Californians,

When the Americans took up the march on the morning of 8 January,
they found their way blocked by the San Gabriel River and General Flores'
force on the far side., The Californios had takén up position atop a
chain of hills about 600 yards west of the San Gabriel; the Americans
approached from the southeast. The San Gabriel was about 50 yards wide
at the point where 3Stockton chose to cross. But it was also under the
guns of the Californians on the far side.

The Commodore ordered the Americans into the formation
practiced so often in San Diego, & hollow square, and advanced on the
San Gabriel from a distance of about two miles. BEBefore reaching the
San Bartolo ford, a group of about 150 Califcrmians crossed to the east
side of the river to harrass the Americans. They attempted to drive a
herd of wild horses into the Yankee square, but to no avail. The mixed
force of soldiers and sailors, with their livestock and and baggage within
the square formed by campanies of musketeers and carbineers, pushed on to the
river, Here they broke ranks, crossed the river by companies in single file,
and reformed on the western bank.

As the Americans proceeded to cross the San Gabriel River,
Californian artillery opened fire on them in mid=-stream. To cover the

crossing, General Kearny begen to unlimber iwo of the six artillery
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pieces attached to the American "Army" but was overruled by Stockton.
The Commodore insisted on gettiing the cannon across the stream before
readying them for action; he Jjumped off his horse, waded into the water,
and helped his men push one of the 9 pounder's onto the west embankment.
Once across, the guns were quickly put to good use, The Californians
did not seem to get the range necessary to inflict casualties on the
Americans, however, although the latter were in an exposed positicn.
Stockton helped the Yankee gunners target the enemy artillery with his
naval gummery skills; he sighted an enemy gun with his telescope, aimed
the cannon, and scored a direct hit on the target. Californian artillery
fire remained ineffective save for one shot that took off an American
gunner's head,

low safely across the San Gabriel, Stockton ordered the heights
on the American right flank assaulted. The task fell to Lieutenant
Hensley of the navy whose skirmishers scramblsd up the hills scaﬁtering
the Californians before them. A six-pounder was ordered te the right
flank, and Hensley supported this move with a portion of his command.
Siezing the initiative: "A portion of the Californians made a charge
that seemed for a time to have broken the American lines, which gave nme
much alarm,” wrote Eenjamin David Wilson, an American who observed the
tattie from a nearby hill, "But as scon as the dust cleared I saw
the Californians retreating, and from what I learned afisrwards, had
the charge bteen simultareous of all Californian forces, the American
lines would have been broken, and tners is no telling what the end night
have beer."-C The mounted Califernios tried a second charge agalinst
tre American leftewing wnich alsc falled. 3Stockion's training hed
maid off in the battle of the San Gabriel River for the Jalifornian

salvary coulé not dsfezt the infaniry squares and steady fire of the
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Yankees,

With the defeat of the enemy assaults, Stockton was ready to
make camp., The Californians still held the high ground to the front
and cenier of the American posiiion, however, and could make any bivouac
in the valley below very uncomfortable. General Kearny seized the
initiative and ordersd the sailors and marines to attack the hills bpefore
them while the enemy remained off-balance: "Now Jacks, at them, charge
and take the nill." The American line went forward with the cry of
"New Orleans," for 8 January was the anniversary of Jackson's victory
in the War of 1812. When Kearny's "Jack Tars" reached the summit the
enemy was nowheré to be found. In true California traditiocn,, the

vagueros and rancheros chose discretion over valor and fled the field.

Cn January 9, the Americans once again took up the march to
Los Angeles, They Journeyed west across a wide plain known as the Mesa
until the Califeornian position atop a hill on the American right came
into view. Stockton ordered the formation of a compact square, livestock
and baggage within its confines, and one canncn at each corner. A
cannonade began between the Californian guns on the hill and American
cannen, but little damage was done to either side. Commodore Steckton
ordered the entire formation to lie flat on the ground whenever the
Californians fired their guns in order to avoid casualties. This action
brought some cheers from the snemy when the Americans fell down after
the first artillery ball passed over the sguare, but these soon faded
when the Americans got up &gain and marched c¢n.

Fleores' cavalry had teen hanging on the fringes of the American
force since thay began their march that morning and were now rsadied for

& charge against the Yankee sguare. The Californian larcers tried the



99
of musket and carbine fire. A second charge was dirécted against the
right and left flanks simultaneously and met with no more success than
the first. Flores finally ordered his entire force of about 400 horsemen
to attack all sides of the American formation. The resultis were the sanme;
the Californios broke off the charge aboult 50 yards from the square.
Throughout the engagement General Kearny's voice rose above the din of
battle reassuring the sailors and marines, ordering them to stand fast.
With the defeat of the last Californian effort Flores and his men gave
the battlefield over to the Americans and withdrew.32

The Americans went into camp outside Los Angeles that night.

The war for Alta California was nearly at an end when American
forces took possession of Los Angeles on the morning of 10 January. The
Californians did not challenge the occupation of the ciudad, but chose
to observe the activities within the town from the surrounding hills.

There was now some concern among the Americans that Flores would
try to atiack Fremont's California Battalion before it reached Los
Angeles. Frémont's whereabouts had become known to Stockton and Kearny
on 9 January when a messenger brought a letter from the explorer placing
him a few miles away at San Fernando. Kearmy wrote iwo or three notes
to Fremont warning hin of the pessibility of an attack. The only reply
came on 13 January when Stockton received the shocking news that Frémont
had granted the Califernians an armistice and was negotiating a treaty
of peace. The next day Frémont marched into Los Angeles at the head of
nis Battalion with a peace treaty in hand.

The Capitulation of Cahuenga, dated 13 January 1847, allowed
the Californians to retain their personal arms, placed no restrictions
on their movementis either within cr without the territory, arnd granted

them all the rights of American citizens without having tc take an ocath
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of allegiance. All paroles were cancglled, prisoners released, and the
Californios promised not to take up arms for the duration of the war
between their new masters and the Mexican Republic. Though the
conciliatory provisions of this treaty at first enraged Stockton, he
accepted the treaty as a whole. Andres Pico signed for the Californian
forces since Flores and about 80 others had fled the country for
Soncra on the 1ith. The most remarkable thing to note about the Treaty
of Cahuenga is the way in which it was negotiated. LTC Frémont was only
a few hours march from Los Angeles and could easily have conferred witn
his superiors with regard to the enemy's willingness to negotiate.
Instead, the explorer isnored Kearny's messages of 10 to 13 January and
chose to conclude a peace treaty without the authority to deo sc. That he
chose not to illustrates hoth Fréhont's ambitious nature and wise dise

cretion on the part of the Californian leaders.

The American conquest of Alta California in the Mexican-American
War exemplified the abilities of zoth antagonists to improvise for
offensive and defensive operations. After years of shortage and neglect,
the Californians were able to mount a defense that was spirited at times,
but of very uneven quality. Ths lack of financial resources and distance
from Mexico alsc detracted from the effectiveness of the California
mounted militia. Despite the superiocr mobility of the Califcrnics,
their attacks were not productive in part because of the spirited
defense put up by the Americars, but also due %o the lack of resolve
within their own ranks., Years of civil war, factional stirife, and un-
seriain leadershin from would-be governors ercded the norale of the
defenders. With 2o many limitaticns, one wonders how the Callforniens

out up any kind of resistarce at all.
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The Americans, for their part, had serious obstacles to overcome
before imposing their rule over Alta California. WNaval superiority gave
the Yankees a sealift capability that overcame the great distance betwesn
northern and southern California, ensuring their control of the most
important coastal points. This also created a limitation--American
control of Alta California was restricted to the Pacific ports. The
naval and marine forces performed well as infantry, but without artillery
or cavalry of their own, the Americans could not subdue the interiocr of
the country. Such was the case with Captain Mervine's abortive campaign
to retake Los Angeles in October 1846, Rev, Walter Colton, the American
alcalde at Monterey, was well aware of this problem: "The war in
California can never be decided from the deck. We want some five
hundred horsémen, thoroughly accustomed to the sadéle and the rifle, and
a few pieces of flying artillery. Without these we shall have constant

34

attempts at revolution."”" Kearny's 100 wornsout Dragcons and their

scrawny mounts hardly filled Colton's prescription for victory and the
result was the costly battle at San Pascual, The Americans needed
another answer to the problems of California warfare.

Logistics also played an important role in formulating plans
and conducting campaigns, The Americans seemed to have had an advantage
with their superior quality arms and ammunition; the Californians lacked
good powder, which guite often made thelr artillery fire erratic, and
the quantity of powder and small arms necessary for an effective defense,
Wrile the imericans had sufficient quantities of war materiel it was of
ne use unless it could ke gotten to the battlefields. This is where
the great distances in falifornia and the shortege of horses and oxen toock

their %¢ll. Commodore Steckton's final campaign in January 1847 did not
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to pull them. Beef was the staple of the American "Army" on the march.
This, too, had to Tte procued from local ranches. Loglstical factors
played a vital rele in determining the timetable for the conquest of
California. Only when sufficient foéd and other supplies were made
available through active foraging could the Americans leave their
coastal enclaves.

Command difficulties also affecfed the Americans during the
course of the California campaign. Secretary of the Navy George Bancroft
relayed the government's confidence in the ability of the army and navy
to cooperate during the Summer of 1846: "The government relies on its
land and naval forces toc ccoperate with each other in the most friendly

w35

and effective manner. Interservice cooperation is easy enough to
order, but it is another ithing altogether fo ensure in a theater so far
removed from the nation's capital. Part of the problem was Kearny's
initial refusal to accept commard and Stockion's later intransigence
when Kearny asserted his authority and demanded that command of American
forces be given over to him., The twe put aside their differences long
enough to congquer Alta California, but the first few months of occupaticn
would see a renewed rivalry for conirol of the civil and military forces.
yiiise Frémcnt, the center of controversy in 1846-47, came to the fore when
he negotiated a peace treaty without authority and within a few miles of
his superiors. Fremont's actions were pelitically motivated, according
to Bancroft, since the Army explorer had visions of tlaying an active
role in California's fledging civilian government., The terms he set
forth in the Treaty of Caheunge, zlihough partially motivated by personal
irterest, were effective in pacifying the restless Californics,

The American campaign in Alte California was an ad hoc affailr,

the conduct of uhich depended on many veriables. Froblems such as
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training seamen for land duty and coordinating their actions with a
contingent of dismounted Dragoons were overcome in order to bring the
war io a successful conclusion. The requisite skills of the sister
services came in handy on the field of battle as well. Stockton's naval
gunnery experience helped knock out an enemy gun at the San Gabriel
River, and General Kearny's confidence in the infantry square composed
mostly of "Jack Tars" at the Mesa contributed to the steadiness of the
Americans in the face of a Californian cavalry charge. Seaman Joseph
Downey's comments on the American sailors at drill provides a fitting
last commentary on the conduct of the campaign in Alta Californias

It was a splendid and heart warming sight to see thése

hrave men, most of whom had in a manner unsexed themselves,

and become what a sailor hates most, Soldiers upon Emeggency,
but it was a proof of what Yankees céan do in a pinch.3
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CHAPTER V

WHC IS GOVERNCR CF CALIFCRNIA?

The Military Cccupation of Alta
California, January lE847-Auzust 1846

General Kearny is supreme--somewhere up the coast;
Colonel Fremont supreme at Pueblo de los Angeles;
Commodore Stockion is 'Commander in chief'at San Diegcj--
Commodore Shubrick, the same at Monierey, and I, at San
Luis Reyj;=--and we all supremely poor; the government
having no money and no credit; and hold the territory
because Mexico is poorest of all,

LTC Fhilip 5t. George Coocke,

Commander of the Mormon

Battalion of Volunteers

With the capitulation of Californian military forces in

January 1847, the Americans focused their attention on the adminisiration
of the newly won province, This task should not have been a difficult
one given the lenient terms of surrender granted the Californians by
Lieutenant Colenel John C. Frémont at Canuvenga. 3But a major problem
arose in the week following the end of hostilities when both General
Kearny and Commodore Stockton claimed supreme authority in California
and sought support from LIC Frémont for their respective positiens.
Kearny had orders from Washington D.C, directing him to take command of
211 land forces in Alta Californiz, and to establish a temporary civil
government upon taking possession of the province. Commodore Stockton
claimed authority bty virtue of congquest ana the establishment of a civil
government by him in August, prior to Kearny's arrival in December 184€,

- 1 » . = ] L] " - L3 - .
Fremont was the determining factor ir this contreoversy since he commanded
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the second largest contingent of troops in the province. In an un-
precedented move Frémont cast his lot with Commodore Stockiton, dis-
obeying the orders of a superior Army officer in the process. This
action only served to confuse the issue of who was the rightful ruler
of California, and also brought an end to Frémont's military career,
Not until Commodores Shubrick and Biddle brought new orders from
Washington in January and March 1847 was the governorship of California
clearly in the hands of any one man.

The difficulty in ascertaining who was to rule California
in the name of the United States resulted from conflicting orders sent
from the nation's capital and the personalities of those who were to
execute those orders. The spectacle of American military and naval
officers arguing over control of a province wen by both illustrates
the problem of co=ordinating the actions of the %wo services so far from
home, That the population of Californla remained quiescent throughout
the controversy between military officers, an all too familiar problem
to the inhabitants can be atiributed to the benevelent psace terms
rendered them by Colonel Frémont and the general lack of enthusiasm for
further military advenitures. Mexico had not the resources necessary to
retake the province, but did have sufficient bluster teo produce
oceasional rumors of Impending invasion. The struggle to install a
single American governor for Alta California constitutes the topic of

this chapter.

Jommodore Stockton exercised undisputed contrel from Augusi

o December 1346, using American combat ferces to tack-up his

-

34

deciaration thzt Alta California was =z territory of ine Unilted States,

The Commedors tock command of the Facific Sguadron in July 1842 and had
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conquered Upper California by mid=August. In a proclamation dated
17 August, Stockton announced: "The territory of California now belongs
to the United States, and will be governed as soon as circumstances may
permit, by officers and laws similar to those by which other territories
of the United States are regulated and protected."l

Until such time as American territorial government could be
installed, Stockton maintained the present system of government based
on Spanish laws and officials. The key figure in this form of government
was the alcalde, a town magistrate with broad executive and judiecial
powers, The Californian alcaldes were replaced by American naval
officers and prominent settlers when Stockton took control of the
province, This system of governing the native population continued to
function throughout the American occupation including the several weeks
from December 1846 to March 1847, when Stockion's governorship was in
question.

Stockton's claim to supreme command was based on a faulty
reading of nis orders and perhaps of his pesition in the overall
campaign., The orders under which he acted were issued by Secretary
of the NWavy George Bancroft, directing Stockion to sieze California
in the event of war with Mexico. Nowhere in those crders did ihe
Yavy Secretary give the commander of the Pacific Sgquadron authority
to establish civil government in any form after capturing California.
Stockton admitted that he had excesded his crdars by establishing the
temporary government at the court-martial of LT Frémeont in 18k7,

"My right to establish the civil goverrment, was incidental to conguest
and I formed the government under the law of nations."z The Commodore's
argurent for authority in California was based solely on the right of

o

orausst and not on diresct instructicns from Weshington.

(¥
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The arrival of a detachment of the Firsi Dragoon Regiment
commanded by General Stephen Watts Kearny in December 1846, precipitated
a change in the nature of California's military government. In pro-
claiming California a territory of the United States and by setting up
a civil government without the authority to do either, Stockton's zeal
for his assigned mission got the better of him. When General Kearny
reached San Diego following the mauling of his dragoons at the hands
of the Californios, civil rule in Alta California received official
sanction. Kearny's orders of June 1846 read, in part: "Should you
conguer and take possession of New Mexico and Upper California or
considerable places in either, you will establish temporary civil
government therein."j Since Kearny's orders were contingent upon
his reaching California and Stockion had already subdued the provinecs
before the September revolt at Los Angeles, the Commodore fefused to
recognize the General's authority, thus confirming the dispute with
Kearny.

Differences of opinion as to the lsgal rule of California
by naval or military forces were set aside in December of 1846 in
order to put down the revolt by southern Californians. After re-
ceiving three wounds at the battle of San Fascual, General Kearny was
rardly fit tc command either his own or Stocktorn's land forces.
According to Dwight L. Clarke, this fact was probatly the main reason
Kearny refused the offer of supreme command by Commodore Steockion in

PR - a8
ied at Frémont's

5

early Decenber 1846, The Commodore later iesti
court-martial that he was asionished when ire Cereral approached him
at the end of December demanding controel of the predominantly naval

irfantry force about to sst out for Les Angeles. Souh oificers ex-

changzd orders in an attempt to Justifly thelr claim for autherity,
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but this settled nothing. Stockton proposed to await a reply from
Washington to several reports sent east in August. For the time being
the Commodore appointed General Kearny commander of the American forces
in San Diego, retaining the title of commander-in-chief for himself.
Kearny accepted the subordinate position for the time being and concen-
trated on preparing the soldiers and sailors for the upcoming campaign.

During the march on Los Angeles there was some friction between
the rival officers; nonetheless, the Americans completed the conquest
of California by 10 January 1847. Only after the defeat of the
Californians did the Stockton-Kearny controversy come tc the fore and
threaten to disturb the fragile peace then in existence,

The most important actor in the struggle for power between
the senior naval and military officers in California was the impulsive
army explorer, LTC John C. Frémont. Frémeont commanded the California
Battalion of Volunteers, which numbered over 400 mounted riflemen,
from July 1846 to January 1847. Marching south from Santa RBarbara in
Decenber, Frémont's force reached San Fernando in early January, Just
in time to receive representatives from the Californians seeking a
favorable peace. The Californios chose to treat with Frémont because
of Stockton's harsh policy toward parcle violators, of which there were
many. (One wonders, %oo, if the Californians knew scmething of
Fremort's character and appealed to his ego by choosing him as the
agent by which peace would return to California). Whatever their reasocn
for choosing the young officer, the Californians successfully negotlated

a treaty favorable to them. The Capitulation ¢f Cahuenga, signed on

J

1L January 1847, placed few restrictions on the natives of California

-

B
and oroved to be quite an accomplishment for LIC Fremonte-in spite of the

fact that he had no authority fc meke such a treaily and the theater
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commander was only a few miles away in Los Angeles.
Commodore Stockton was much chagrined when Fremont marched
into Los Angeles on 14 January at the head of his battalion, with a
treaty of peace in hand. On the other hand, General Kearny applauded
Frémont's discretion in drawing up reascnable conditions, partly for
the common sense shown in dealing with the Califormians and also because
he needed Frémont's support if the General were to assume control of
the province. Nonetheless, Stockton remained adamant in his refusal to
turn over his command to Kearny. Both men fell back on their
arguments of late December, the one claiming authority by right of
conquest and the other by virtue of specific orders from the nation's
capital. The Kearny-Stockton controversy, as it fook shape in January
1847, was at once an intraservice rivalry and personal dispute between
the assertive general and unmoving commedore. In this disagreement
between a general and = commodore, a lieutenant-colonel became the
deciding factor.
The active struggle for authority in California began on 16

January 1847 when General Kearny queried Commodore Stockton as to what
orders the latter was following in his continued rule of the province.
Kearny's orders were from the President, and the General knew of no
higher authority or other orders under which scoldiers or sailors could
act. Kearny made one final attempt to force Stockton to reccgnize his
authority when he wrote:

If you have such authority[ from the President or Secretary of

the Navy]and will show it to me, or will furnish me with

certified copies of it, I will cheerfully acquiesce irn what

you are doing., If you have not such authority, I then demand

that you cease all further proceedings relating to the

formation of a civil govt. for this territory, as I cannot

recognize in you any right in assuming to perform duties con=
fided to me by the president,
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Stockton's reply reiterated his previous position that he ruled
California by right of conquest, that the civil government he installed
in August 1846 was merely interrupted by an insurrection, and he could
not recognize Kearny's demands. Stockton added insult to injury when
he wrote to the General on the same day:

I will only add that I cannct do anything, nor desist

from doing anything, or alter anything on your demand;

which I will submit to the president and ask for your

recall. In the mean time you will consider yourself

suspended from the command of the U.S. forces in this

place.

These were very bold words from a man whose equivalent rank in
the Army was a colenel to be directing toward a superior officer, but
the exchange of fiery notes was not without precedence. Fre=war
arguments over seniority based on date of rank and breveting, (a
wholly confusing system of honorary promotions in itself), were common
occurrences., America'’s officer corps was more aristocratic and politically
criented than professional. Like the armed services themselves, the
officers had not yet "grown-up." Stockton's insubordirsie bit of
correspondence was not surprising when placed in the context of the
times; out it did meke for a troublesome situation in an army preoccupied
with the cccupation of a recently hostile province.

With Stockton's refusal to recognize his authority, General
turnad te LTC Frémont for support. Frémon himsell was in a
quandary over the status of Cemmodors Stockion in the Amerlcan command
giructures; so he sent his aide-de=-camp, cone Major Russell, Lo speak with
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thekdragoons as the commander=-in=-chief, which prompted'?rémont to
pay his respects to the naval officer. Frémont also owed Commodore
Stockton a great deal for his initial promotion tec major, as well as
the military governorship which the explorer held during the summer
of 1846, As it turned out, this appoiniment closely paralleled
Frémont's political ambitions for the post-war years. (He was elected
to the Senate of the United States in 1849 as California prepared for
statehood). Tt would have been bad form, then, if Fremont deserted his
tenefactor at a time when both men had much to gain.

Tn order to test LTC Fremont's loyalty, General Kearny sent
hin an order instructing the young officer not to make any organizational
changes in his battalion. This move was intended to sound out Fremont's
position in the controversy over command of the American forces in
California, Kearny‘sent the order to the explorer ¢n 16 January. The
16th was also the day Kearny recsived Stockton's negative response to
his demands that the Commodors step daun fron the governcrship., LTC
Frémont paid a visit to General Kearny the next morning at the latter's
request, During the meeting Frémont's clerk brought in a handwritten
response to Kearny's order forbidding changes in the California
Pattalion, Frenoat signed the letter and hanced it to the General, Ha
had opted for Stockton; the letter to Kearny contained a politely worded
refusal tc comdply. The G2neral must have teen taken aback scmewhat by
this reply from & Junicr offlicer of the same service, He su
Fremont reconsider his position and reirzct the letter. During the

'
coursa of the ccnversation, Kearny apnarsrily oifersd to maks Fremont
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it after the ﬁeeting between the two Army officers.
With no chance of gaining Frémont's support, General Kearny

told the commander of the California Battalion to leave and wrote a
brief letter to Commodore Stockton. In it, Kearny noted the seriocusness
of the situation and blamed Stockton for the consequences;

I must for the purpose of preventing collision between us, and

possibly a eivil war in consequence of it, remain selent for the

present, leaving you with the great responsibility of doing that

for which you have no authority, and preventing me from com-

plying with the president's oxders.
With this parting shot, Kearny gquit Los Angeles and marched to San
Diego on 18 January,

In his biography of General Kearny, Dwight L. Claxzke raises

a vital question in assessing Frémont's behavior toward the Generale-
why did he disobey the orders of a superior? Frénont began the war in
California as a captain of the topographical engireers, tecame a major
under a naval commission from Commodore Stockton, and finally attained
the rank of lieutenant colonel when a commission zrrived from Washingion
in October 1846, By refusing to follow General Kearny's orders and
recognizing the authority of Commodors Stockton, Frémont appeared teo
held two commissions simultaneously. Captaln Samuel du Pont of the
warship Cyane thought this to bte the case since Frémont obeyed Stockton
vet signad all his official correspondence "LTC and U.S. Army and
Military Commandant of ihe Territory of California.” Fr;moni based his

support of Stockion on the subordinate position General Kearny had

&

accepted during the Leos Angeles campaign. The explorer was merely
following suit, so to speak, by obeying the crders of the man recognized
by Fearny as commandsr=in-chief, OCnce Los Angeles was in American hancs
and the Ceneral exerted his autherity, however, should nof Fremoni have

¥4
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obzyed the orders of nis supericr? What LTC Fremont should have done
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and what he did do are, of course, two different things. 4s hoth Clarke
and Bancroft suggest, Frémont may have been motivated by political
aspirations reaching beyond the period of American occupation. His
activities during February and March 1847 point to this since much of
his time was spent currying favor with the inhabitants of Los Angeles.
Nonetheless, the final resuli of Frémont's decision to support Stockton
was charges of mutiny and insubordination and a court-martial,

In order ito assert his authority in California once Stockton
and Fréhont had gone their own way, General Kearny required additional
troops to back up his claims. These troops had been provided for by
President Polk who authorized the creation of a battalion of Mormon
volunteers about the same time Kearny departed from Fort Leavenworth.
This initially created an ethical probiem for the Mormons: how could
they take-up arms and fight on behalf of a country whose peoplz per=-
secuted the Latter-Day Saints, and whose government did 1little to protect
them? Elder Jesse C. Little of New England advised a most practical
course of action for the Mormens: "If our government should offer
facilities for emigrating to the western coast, embrace those facilities
if possible, As a wise and faithful man, iake every honorable
advantage of the times you can.”7 Curiously enough, this message was
written in January 1846, before the Army of the West had been conceived,

The Mormon Battalion received wzapons and suppliss at Fort
Leavenworth in early July 1344, and were on the westward trails by mid-
August. Tha Mermons followed the path of Kearny's force, which had lef:

Leaverworth in Juns, and rszached New Mexico by COctober whzre they were

o+

given a new commandirg officer, LTC Fhilip St. George Cooke. The
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the 29th of the month, Cooke was in San Diego, following the orders of
General Kearny. The Mormons served as garrison troops for San Diego
and San Luis Rey until their enlistments expired in July. In the
interim, Cooke's battalion strengthened Kearny's hand; but they were
not the deciding factor in putting an end to the political turmoil of
Alta California. The issue was decided by the timely arrival of
Commodore Stockton's relief.

February 1847 was the most difficult month for the American
occupation forces, for California had no central authority. Kearny
remained at San Diego claiming to te commander-in-chief, Stockton was
preparing his naval forces for an offensive against Baja California
and the west coast of Mexico, while Frémont camped near Los Angeles with
the title of governor and cver 00 mounted riflemen to back him up. The
situation was all too familiar tc the Californians, as Hubert H. Bancroft
noted in his volume on California in the years 184A-1848: "So
accustomed had become the inhabitants to controversies bvetween their
civil and military chiefs that they would perhaps have questioned the
legitimacy of a harmonious administration."9

Relief for California's confused political cornditions arrived
on 12 February at San Francisco in the form of Commodore Shubrick,
Stockton's replacement., Accompanying him was Colonel Richard B, Mason
of the First Dragoons, btearing orders from Generzl Winfield Scott te
General Kearny. These nrders, daled 3 November 18L6, directed Kearny

nd to establish a

o

to enroll Framont's Battalion as volunteer troors
temporary civil sovernment in California. OShubrick too trought orders

From the Secretary of the Favy which realffirmed thoss Just received
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and worked out an agreement in the spirit of their respective orders,
defining the duties of naval and military officers. The statement was
issued on 5 March after the arrival of Shubrick's successor, Commodore
Biddle, giving the Navy control over the peris and customs duties. The
civil government and land forces were under the leadership of General
Kearny, who now took the title of Governor of California. Stockton was
given the choice by the Navy Department of remaining in the Pacific
theater as second in command to Biddle or returning ta the United States
on board a warship. In the same spirit of insclence which caused hinm
to defy a senior officer, he chose neither alternative; instead, the
Commodore tried out his land legs and set out for Washington acress the
great American deserts in May 1847. 4ll parties ccncerned in the dispute
were placated by the Joint declaration of 5 Farch save one; Fremont
remained at Los Angeles claiming the governorship for himself,

With a copy of Kearny's proclamation of 5 March in hand, CPT
Turner of the First Dragoons rode south personally to deliver word of the
Gereral's assumption of command to Fremont. He arrived on 11 March 1847,
delivered the orders to Frémont, received a promise of compliance, and
rode on to San Luis Rey to apprise LTC Cooke of the latest developrents,

Central to the instructicns deliversd by Turner was an orxdsr to
enroll Frémont's battalion as volunteers so that they could be discharged
at Yerba Buena; pricr tc this, the California Battalion erjoyed a rather
nebulous status as an irrvegular force of mounted men temporarily serving
2s a naval infantry unlt ashcre. Such were the arrangements under
Jormodore Stockton., With the assertion of auvthorizy by Cereral Kearny,
Prémont's men sould no lerger serve in this state. The explerer i

‘bpitted the crder to tave ths unil

5
(o
B
ty
o
@
o,
1_.)
:'(‘1
5]
13
o]



118
men, one reason he left the decision up to them rather than order thenm
to enroll as volunieers. As a result, the explorer maintained his
independence and continued to claim the title of governor. When LTC
Cooke inguired as to the status of Fremont's men on 14 March, "Secretary
of State" Russell, on behalf of "Governor" Fréﬁont, responded that
"the governor considers it unsafe at this time, when rumor is rife
with a threatened insurrection, to discharge the battalion, and will

decline doing SO.eve’ Fremont's rationale for retaining the battalion

A\

* *

in its present condition centered on rumcrs, later proved to be un-
fdunded, of a potential revolt by the Californians over suppcsed
violations of the Treaty of Cahuenga and the approach of the Mormon
Battalion, which caused some consternation among the Catholic residents

f Los Angeles and San Diego. The revolt it seemed was a product of
Frémont's imagination, while the Mormons were actually earning the
respect of the residents of San Diego through community work and con-
struction projects. Nonetheless, Frémont refused to muster his battalion
and continued to issue orders and draw bills of exchange in the name of
the United States, perpetuating the illusion that he remained governor

of California. In fact, his orders carried lititle weight beyond the
10
limits of Los Angeles.
/ s .
Fremont started north on 22 March to consuli with General Kearny

at Meonterey on curxrent affairs in California. He was anxious not ornly

a1

for his own positien, but also to discover whether Kearny would assume

i o5y s /
the debts of the previous government, which he now respresented. Fremont

made the trip in four days, arriving on the evening of 25 March, The next

y
day, with the good offices of Consul Larkin, LTC Fremont and General
;
¥ezrny met to consider their differences. The General azsked Fremont
Al

i€ he intended to nbey dis crdsrs of 5 MNarch, tat the Junior cofficer

A
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hesitated. FKe was given one hour or one day to reconsider; Frgmont
returned at the end of an hour and promised obedience. During the one
hour of grace he had tendered his resignation from the Army, but this
was refused, leaving Fremont no alternative but to comply with the
General's orders. The explorer returned to Los Angeles, arriving
there on 29 March. Kearny was satisfied by the results of the meeting,
but sent Colonel Mason to Los Angeles in early April to ensure Frémont's
co=-operation.

The explorer proved more difficult to subdue, however, for on
the day after his departure for Monterey, "Secrstary of State" Russell
left Los Angeles bourd for Washington with messages said tc include a
petition from residents of California asking that Fr;mont be made governor.
This along with Fréﬁont's friendly disposition toward the Californians
supports the thesis that he acted primarily out of personal political
interests, even after receiving Kearny's early-March orders.11

LTC Philip St. Gecrge Cooke marched from San Diego to San Luils
ey in mid=March to post troops for the occupation of the province and
retrieve two pleces of artillery belonging to the dragoonus, then on loan
to Frémont's battalion. Cooke, who had been appcinted commandant of
the southern district of California, called on CPT Qwens of the
California Battalion to see about the cannon. Owens was polite enough,

's assumption of command and continued

a

L

.

®e

but he claimed igrorarcs of Kear
+o follow specific orders from Fremcni rrohiviting him from releasing
any mer or sguipment without the Lieutenant=Cclonel's pernissior.
Cooke insisted his crders bte followed, Ttut to no avail, He dsecided
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The next conflict between a representative of the military
government and the renegade Fréﬁont came on 12 April 1847 when Colcnel

4
Mason demanded to see Fremont's c¢ivil and military records. Mason had

arrived in the south about 7 April and had spoken with the explorer on

several occasions prior to the 12th. Fremont provided the available

.

records, though with scme misgivings, and explained that the balance
had been sent on to Washington with Mr. Russell. Mason also asked for
horses for his return trip to Monterey. Frémont did not answer this
request for two days and on the 14th refused to see two messengers sent
by the superior officer to Fremont's headquarters. Bancroft considered
this a reaction tc being ordered aboui by Mason, but another account
written by Stephen C. Foster, the alcalde of Los Angeles, ascribes
Frémont's delay tc more personal considerations:

As soon as Pryor and myself were alone after the quarrel,

Pryor remarked that he never saw so nuch fuss made apout a

whore; that early in the morning as he came up to,

town he saw an old woman bring her daubute” to freﬂcnt 5

door. Frément received her at the door and ordered

the sentry to give admittance to no one until further

orders, ’,
When Pryor rsturned by Fremont's house the mother

was still sitting L“e e, and Mason's orderly was Just

going back to Pryor's ho oyse, ard that was the cause

of the whole difficulty.””

-

Yhatever the cause Tor Fremont's tardiness, Mason became impatient

with the younger officer at his headguarters later that day; harsh
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-that the last contingent left the service on 1G April, Frémont then
requested permission to rejoin his regular Army unit, the Mounted
Rifles, serving with Taylor in Mexico., Kearny denied this request
and ordered the hapless explorer to accompany him back to Fort
Leavenworth. The General and his unwilling prisonsr left California
on 31 May 1847 and arrived at the Missouri River outpest on 22 August.
That same day Kearny placed Frémont under arrest and ordered him to
report to the Adjutant General in Washington within a month to face a
court-martial on charges of nmutiny and disobedience of orxdexrs.

Over the course of the two=and-a-half month trial, testimony
from most of the major participants in the conguest of California led
to the conviction of Frémont on 21l counts and specificaeticns of the
charges against him. The board of officers suggested, however, that the
sentence be remitted due to the confused circumstances in California
and Frémont's previous record of distinguished service 1n the ex-
ploration of the west. President Polk agreed and the punishment of
dismissal from the service was dropped; but Fr;mont remzined dis-
catisfied for the court-martial still found him guilty, scmething the
young officer could not tolerate. FHe resigned his commission cn 1k
VMarah 1948 and returned to the Pacific coast the following year Lo
manzge a large private roncho and make his mark in California politics.

During the month of April 1857 more reinforcemenis for the

American cccupation forees arrived in Ca’ifornig==this time 0y S5ea.

f]

wly 1846, President Polix hacd authorizad 2 specizl reginment of
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politician with good commonsense, but no military experience,
Recruiting for the 1lst New York Volunteer Regiment began in July and
ended in August when the men were taken to Governor's Island for basic
military training., Public opposition to the project became widespread
in July when the regiment's mission was made known; President Polk's
claim that the war was defensive and intended to "conguer a peace" no
longer held true, for the New York Volunteers were an obvious zgent of
American imperialism. This was probably one factor leading to the
unpopularity of ihe war in New England and the raising of but one
regiment in the state of Few York, where seven were called for. The
New Yorkers still served Polk's purposes as well as those of the pro=-
moters of "Manifest Destiny." One New York newspaper wrote of the

's mission on & September 184&:

regiment
veed Tortnight more will probably find these pioneers
in the cause of the advancement of human freedom, civs=
jlization and prosperity, on their way to the land of
their hopes ard future prospecis. Arrived there, they
w11l cause the 'wilderness tc bud and blossom as the rose
tree,' and plant the standard of the American government
and enterpriss upen the soil of California,

Stevenson's regiment set sail from New York in September 1846
atoard four chartered ships, and arrived in Californiz waters during
¥March and April 1847, 3By 19 April the regiment,less a few deserters,
m
i

was on garrison duty 1n Alta California. he timsly arrival ¢f ihe

. ' .

reginment's leading =lements on 7 March sirengthened Kearny's position

4
ament tetwsen him and Framont. Following the departurs of
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Canerzl Kearny in May, Colonel Stevenscn became deduly ceommander o
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companies that garrisoned Los Angeles, San Diego, and San Luis Rey
took turns watching a pass in southern California against several
rumored invasions by Mexican forces from Sonora. Mainly the New
Yorkers engaged in a battle against the boredom of garrison life,
and were successful in this endeavor until the discovery of gold in
1848,

The services of the lst New York Volunteer Regiment were
invaluable to the occupation of California as well as the growth
of the new state during the 1830's and later., MNost of the volunteers
remained in California and contributed to thé professions and politics.l

Once the controversy over the governorship of Califeornia had
subsided the American armed forces reverted to more familiar duties.
The days of boredom were alleviated by occasional forays into the country-
side to chastise groups of Indians who began stealing from the ranchos
in late March. The dragoons were best=sulted for this task, but their
numbers were insufficient to deal with the growing problem of Indian
raids., Ancther small contingent of mounted men was raised from among
the American settlers, as a volunteer unit in April, giving the
Americans a better chance a2t protecting their new frontier. Still,
Gereral Kearny recommended to Washington a permanent garrison of 1,0CC
saldiers for California, most of whom should Te mounted. Several forts
were sconstructed by both volunteer and Regular Army troops ito support
ihe forces already in the provinecs and provide accomodaticns for futurs
sarrisors. Fortifications were ccnstructed at Los angeles, 3an Diegc,
Yonterey, and San Franciseo during the year 1847, In a sense ihe
senunation duties of the Anerican fowess in California after March 184

t is, a retuwrn to mors routine fronlier
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Colonel Mason's governorship was quiet compared to the
difficulties of preceding months. Mason tecame the military governor
following the departure of General Kearny in May 1847. As Governor,
Mason was faced with several rumored invasions of Alta California
during the summer of 1847, which he discounted almost immediately.

This is not to say that the governor took this talk of renewed
insurrection lightly. Mason firmly believed that the population of
southern California would revolt at the slightest invasion from Sonora,
requiring a third campaign to pacify the Californios. But no invasion
naterialized; and the rumors proved to be no more real than those Frémont
used to Justify his continued rule in Los Angeles.

This left Colonel Mason with little else to do in California
save preside over the changing of the guard, so to speak, when the Mormon
Battalion and Colonel Stevenson's Regiment were mustered out. The
Mormons' term of service expired in July 1847. Although the gzovernor,
and General Kearny orior to his departure, encouraged the Mormons to
re-enlist for another year, there were few takers., As a result, 240
men of LTC Cooke's Battalion were released from service on 156 July. 4

1ittle less than A0 men signed up for another iterm of service, and were

sent to San Diego where their public service ina cleaning up the town
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but these men[ the Mormons] have crossed a continent." The role of
the Mormons in garrisoning California before the arrival of Stevenson's

18
Regiment was also vital to the occupation.

The First New York Velunteer Regiment, which had been raised
for the duration of the war, remained on active duty in California until
fall 1848, During the approximately 18 month period that Stevenson's
men served, most of the regiment engaged in garrison duty; from Sonoma
in the north to Los Angeles in the south, the New Yorkers guarded
against revolt and protected the property of the Californians. When
word of gold discovered on Sutter's Ranch reached San Francisco in May
1848, men in the northern settlements set out to make their fortunes in
the mines, The volunteers succumbed to the lure of great riches as well.
CPT Brackett, commander of the garrison at Sonoma,,reported 63 men
available for duty on 30 April 1848, but found only 28 men answering
the roll call three months later. Desertion became the greatest
problem of the American occupation forces after May 1848. Not even the
regulars of Company F, Third Artillery, which had arrived in March
with part of the New York Regiment, were immune. Despite severs
measures to deter desertion (including branding and loss of D3Y ),
soldiers continued to make their way up the Sacramento in search of
gold., Fortunately, the population remained quiescent and ro Mexican
invasions appeared on the distant horizon of Sonora to disrupt the
peaceful existence of America's new territory. Stevenson's Regiment
was finally mustered out between 15 August and 25 Qctober after news
of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo reached Alta California. President
Polk's gamble of sending an armed force around South America by sea
nad paid off and would continue to return great profits to the United

States because many of the soldiers turned civilian became prominent
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leaders in the fledging state of California.19

The Treaty ending the Mexican-American War was signed at
Guadalupe Hidalge in February 1848, and accepted by the United States
Congress in a modified form in March. The war officially ended on
30 May when Mexico accepted the modified treaty. Word of the treaty
reached Monterey on 6 August prompting Governor Mason to issue a
decree the following day on the new status of California as an
American territory. The Governor contrasted the province's past with
the benefits to be gained from American rule:

From this new order of things there will result to

California a new destiny. Instead of revolutions

and insurrections, there will be internal tranquility;

instead of a fickle and vacillating policy, there will

be a firm and stable government, administering justice

with impartiality and punishing crime with the sirong

arm of power. The arts and sciences will flourish, and

the labor of the agriculturist, guided by the lamp of

learning, will stimulate the earth to the most bounti-

ful production. Commerce, freed from the absurd re=

strictions formerly imposed will be greatly extended;

the choked=-up channels of trade will be opened, and

the poisoned fountains of domestic faction forever

dried up.
Mason's decree sounded like an editorial preaching the gospel of
"Manifest Destiny" to the American people. The notion of progress
so much a part of America's sense of mission in the world is evident
in the preceding passage.

And so it seemed to the inhabitants of California, both
natives and Americans alike, that United States' rule was a change for
the better. In the 13 months ending in Cctober 1848, $120,000 in duties
on commercial shipping had been collected. From April 1847 to April
1848, 85 merchant vessels called at California ports, mere than double
the traffic before the war. Consul Thomas Larkin reported the great

inerease in trade and a change in the dominance of the Boston traders

from earlier years:
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«»ethe commerce of California had trebled within a year.
The regular traders of many years' standing from Boston
appear to have retired from the trade, which is now carried
on by transient ves§els from thEISandwich Islands, South
America, and the United States.

Mason's prophecy of stable government also appeared to be
borne out by the tranquility of American rule. Mexican laws and rule
by alecaldes, although these men were now Americans, remained the form
of government during the occupation. Frominent Californians were
named to secondary posts in the civil government, while the influx
of American immigrants gradually made the Californians a minority.
These factors contributed to the ease of transition from a nominally
Mexican province to a territory of the United States.21 In dealing
with the Californians it seemed best to adopt a conciliatory policy,
or at least one that respected their tradition of independence and
their anti-authoritarian character. General Kearny thought this one
of his better decisions, believing that the acceptance of "a mild and

conciliatory course toward the Californians” as delineated by the

Treaty of Cahuenga prevented the Californians from finding great fault

with their American rulers. BRather than reject Kearny and his men,

as had been done to the Mexican General Micheltorena in 1845, the
Californians patiently awaited the changes promised by their new masters.
If LTC Frémont contributed anything to the success of American aims in

California, other than confusion, it was the Treaty of Cahuenga.

Part of the problem in determining who should contreol the
military forces and government of California after 14 Janusry 1847
emanated from a source over 2,000 miles away. The orders issued by
the Departiment of the Navy and the War Depariment failed ito make clear

which branch of the service had priority in establiishing a government,
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Commodore Stockton acted under orders issued in 1845 which said, in
essence, "take California.” What they failed to say was what should be
done once the province was in American hands; thus, Stockion formed a
civil government, which he had no authority to create, and felt
justified in claiming power by right of conquest. General Kearny
acted on orders from the'president and the War Department which super=-
ceded Stockton's orders by nearly a year. When the directives from
Washington that clarified the situation arrived in March 1847, one
outdated set of orders from the Navy Depariment instructed the senior
naval officer to form a civil government: "This occupation of
California will bring with it the necessity of a civil administration.
Such government should be established under your protection."22 These
commands were dated 12 July 1846, more than a month after Kearny's
mission to march on to California was known. The Secretary of the Navy
acted either out of ignorance of Kearny's orders from the president,
or someone failed to tell him of the Army expedition's orders when he
signed the letter of 12 July. 3Better co-ordination of the separate arms
of the armed forces might have prevented the collision between Stocktcn
and Kearny.

Another factor that played an important role in the Stockton-
Kearny controversy was General Kearny's physical and mental condition
at the time of his arrival in California., One should remember that
Kearny arrived at San Diego in a weakened condition after suffering
wounds at San Pascual. Kearny himself knew that he was in no condition
to take command of American forces in California. The majority of
American fighting men in the province at the time were sailors serving
temporarily as infantry. These twec facts taken together are probably

the best explanations for the General's initial reluctance to assert
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his authority in December 1846, as Dwight L. Clarke has suggested in
his biocgraphy of Kearny.

Stockton's refusal to yield to the superior officer can be
attributed to his argument that California was his by right of con-
quest, that he had set up a civil government (which was actually
nothing more than military rule with another name), and his belief
that by not taking command immediately, Xearny had relinquished command
to the Commodore. Stockton was a very proud officer, patrician in both
behavior and tastes, and probably would not have yielded to Kearny
until relieved of his command==which is precisely what happened., Lack
of clear orders from the nation's capital was one problem, the inter=
action of very different personali®ies in California another. Both
played an important part in creating the conflict between two officers
of different branches of service, with the same goal--the conquest of
California.

John C, Fréﬁont's role in the Stockien-Kearny conflict is more
difficult to explain. Until Stockton's dismissal, Frémont's support
of the Commodore was apparently based upon loyalty to the man who made
him governor. Frémont's connection to the influential Serator Benton
also appearsd to be a cause of his defiance of Kearny's orders during
January and February 1847. After the relief of Stockton in March 1847,
Fréﬁont continued to chart an irdependent course based upon the office
the commedore had given him. Dr, John 3. Griffin of the First Dragoons
expressed the opinion that the explorer was seeking prominence and
political leverage with the Californians; "Premont's thirst for glory,
and Stockton's--I wont [sic] say what==but I only wish I could merry a
Senators [ sic] daughter. I might then set at defiance the orders of my

nel

superiors and do as I pleased. Of course the issue in January remained
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who was Frémont's legitimate superior, but after early March 1847,
there should have been ne question. Stockton was succeeded by Shubrick,
then Biddle, yet Fremont continued to act as governor at Los Angeles,
The explorer's political ambitions were probably the main reason for
his continued disobedience of orders. Bancroft documented Fremont's
behavior while at Los Angeles; Frémont had made many friends (and
enemies as well), adopted local manners of dress, and sent a petition
supposedly signed by all the residents of Los Angeles to Washington,
asking that Frémont be made governor, Frémont was a victim both of
circumstances (because he had to chose between two superior officers),
and his own ambitions. In the end, his desire for prominence among
the Californians caused his downfall in the court-martial that drove
him from the service.

As for the American occupation of Califernia until August 1848,
the problems faced by Governor Mason were dealt with most expediently.
Shortages of food and pay during the first few months of 1847 were
alleviated by shipmenis from the Sandwich Islands and the increased
shipping in California ports. Although the government was proclaimed
to be a civil one, the alcaldes who ruled California's towns were either
military men or elected from a few eligible American settlers. Theodore
Grivas deals with this period of California history in his book

Military Governments in California and rightly points out that no civil

government operated in California until after the creation of a
Territorial government in late 1849, By that time the great influx of
American immigrants and fortune seekers had increased the population
to the point that popular sentiment demanded the formation of z state.
This was accomplished in 1850 after a great debate in the Congress

resulting in cne of the last compromises between free states and slave.
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In the short span of four years, The United States had acquired a port
on the Pacific due to the efforts of a small number of sailors, soldiers,
and frontiersmen who carried the banner of "Manifest Destiny" across

the continent, planting it firmly in the soil of California.
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CHAPTER VI

“A BRIGHT STAR IN OUR UNION"

Some Concluding Thoughts on
the Campaign in Alta California

We come to scatter then abroad, rich seed, which sown,
shall bte,
Productive of a happy race, a pecple wise and free.

WeMe, a soldier of the -
1st New York Volunteers

The Mexican=-American War in California has not been overlooked
by historians, but it has not been given its due either. Most tomes
written on the war as a whole neglect the campaigns in California,

New Mexico, and the western coast of the Mexican Republic, discounting
these minor affairs as a "side=-show." Justin H. Smith, whose 1919
work on the Mexican-American War was considered the definitive treat=
ment of the subject for many years, devoted but two chapters to the war
in California.l K. Jack Bauer has written two books on this peried of
American histery, which, taken together, probably provide the Test
analyses of the war published to date. He included ithree chapters on
the war in California in one book, and a very fine, detailed treatment
of the naval war in California along with the attendant land campaizns
in the cther.z Yet the war for the west was a very important part of
the Mexican-American War as well as the general westward movement of the

American peopls, and it deserves a fuller treatment on both counts,

1734



135

One contemporary who recognized the value of the American
military efforts in the west was LTC Philip St. George Cooke, who
published his memoirs of the conquest of New Mexico and California in
1878, As a participant in the war in the west, Cooke believed that
the Army of the West and his Mormons were the "unsung heroes" of
the Mexican=-American War. The western theater, he argued, produced
more permanent results than the campaigns o¢f Generals Taylor and Scott.
One passage taken from the preface of his book illustrates both the
problems faced by the men who served in the western theater of
operations, as well as the obscurity of their efforts:

The conquerors were, for a year, almost beyond

communication with government or countrymen, and these
were wholly interested in the battles in Mexico; and
thus it happened that a few soldiers and sailers, withe
out.sympathy or apglause, achieved the only permanent
fruits of the war,

There are certain elements of truth in Cooke's statement. While
the soldiers and sailors who fought in California and other western
departments were nearly out of touch with the federal government,
one can be sure that members of the government, especially the
president, took a keen interest in the results of the military and
naval operations directed against California. President Polk was not
only elected on an expansionist platform, but he personally authorized
the formation of the Army of the West, the Mormen Battalion, and the
1st New York Volunteer Regiment. The military campaigns of Generals
Taylor and Scott in the east were certainly more “glamorous' than the
activities on the Pacific coast, and thus were important because ihey
assured a de Jjure recognition of the de factc conquest of Alta

California. The "permanent fruits of the war" mey have teen picked

off the Mexican "tree by the American foreces in California and New
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Mexico, but they could not be partaken of until the Mexicans agreed
to give them up. This would not have been possible without Scott's
campaign in the Mexican heartland.

With the American victory in 1848 came a tremendous influx
of citizens and immigrants determined to make their fortunes in the
gold mines of the Sacramento River Valley and elsewhere. The rise
of the gringo brought on the decline of the ranchero; for it did not
take long before land speculators and new laws replaced the less for-
mal Spanish system of granting large tracts of land with little
documentation to support the grants. As a result, many of the
wealthy aristocratic families of ante-bellum days were displaced by
Americans with little regard for local customs. From the Californian
perspective the Americanos were grasping and covetous. Although
their lands had been guaranteed under the Treaty of Guadalupe
Hidalgo, the provisions of this part of the treaty were later dropped,
thus the way was clear for the "yeoman farmers" to establish them=
selves by dismembering the great ranchos of California, particularly
those in the north near San Francisco. Through a kind of “squatters
rights" imperialism, Americans had made their way across the con=-
tinent since the beginning of the century. It was the same kind of
imperialism on a leccal level which brought to an end the "halcyon

n
days" of the California gapcheros.

The great social and econcmic changes that occurred in Alta
California as a result of the war were a vital part of the westward
novement of American citizens and the soldiers who accompanied them.
Even before the arrival of men in search of gold the non=Spanish,
white population had increased dramatically. The number of these

irdividuals rose from 680 to 4,200 in the three~year -ericd 1E45 to
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1848, According to Hubert Howe Bancroft, of these 3,520 new=-
comers, 2,020 came as soldiers, both volunteers and regulars.5 Not
all of them stayed in California, but a large portion, mainly
Stevenson's Regiment, did make California their home. Many of these
men became prominent in California government and society in the
years following the Mexican=-American War, as Donald C. Biggs
demonstrates in his book on Stevenson's Regiment.5 American military
and naval forces not only made possible the changes which took place
after the war, but were a vital part of these changes as well.

The forces that brought about the migrations of American
settlers during the 1830's and 40's were the stirrings of nationalism
and confidence in the institutions of the United States. These, added
to the earlier commercial interests which originally brought California
to the attention of Americans, made the acquisition of the province
an obsession, California became a focal point of American immigration
largely as a result of internal factors, as well as the external
threat posed to the expansion of the Republic by Great Britain. The
settlers themselves viewed this westward movement as scmething that
had been predistined; California became for many a land of milk and
honey, a new promised land. Rev. Walter Colion menticned this fact in
his diary after talking to a newly arrived American seitler. The
immigrant felt that the curreni war to take possession of Califcrnia
was completely Jjustified and compared the Americans to the Israelites
in Palestine. Colton wrote:

But I find this kind of »arallel running in the imagination
of all the Imigrantis [sic] . They seem to look

upon this beautiful land as their owan Canzan, and the
notley race around them as Hittiles, the Hivites, and
Juzusites, whom they are to drive out. But they have

gone at it with other weapons than ram's horns, except
as powder-flask$.7
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The belief that the United States was the most perfect of governments
ever conceived not only instilled the population with a national
feeling, called "Manifest Destiny" for lack of a better term, but
it also served the interests of politicians determined to make the
nation a force to be reckoned with in regional, if not world, affairs.
The spirit of "Manifest Destiny" accompanied the volunteer

soldiers of the 1lst New York Regiment as well. Edward Gilbert, a
private in the Regiment, wrote of the popular perception of the
expedition and the advantages to be gained from the conquest of
California:

He Lthe volunteer] knows that his country looks upon

hin as the pioneer in an undertaking which is to make

his beloved republic the greatest nation on earth--

which is to shower into her lap the profits of half

the commerce of the world; and which is to extend the

benefits and blessings of education and republicanism

over three-fourths of the continent of North America.‘.8
It would be more accurate tc say that Gilbert's passage reflected
the volunteers' perception of their own role in the war, rather than
a popular cne, because the expedition was controversial in a war

which was intended to "conquer a peaces,” not territory. His commerts
on the commercial benefits to be reaped from the conquest of far-off
California not only show the yard-stick by which greatness was
measured in the 19th century, but also reflects the confidence and
pride of a young naticn.

The Mexican=-American War in California was, to paraphrase
Walter Colton, not on a large scale; but it impinged upon the province
at certain points with terrific energy.9 Most of those points were in
the south, for California north of Santa Bartara was secured at little

cost in men and materiel. Following the bloocdless conguest of the

northern settlements in July 1846, the only resistance to American
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rule came from disgruntled rancheros who were defending their property
from the privateering volunteers. The freebooting procurement methods
of LTC Fremont's California Battalion did not endear the Americans to
the Californios, but most seemed willing to give the new masters of
the province a chance to improve on the chaotic conditions of the
previous 25 years.

The war in California south of Santa Barbara and north of
the Baja was much more active, and in the long run proved decisive.
Los Angeles had long been the seat of rebellion under the Spanish and
Mexican administrations of California and proved equally troublesome
to the Americans. Commodore Stockton's strict military laws were
responsible for the revolt that drove CFT Gillespie from the ciudad.
Once the rebellion hecame an accomplished fact, Stockton and Fremont
were faced with an enemy well acquainted with the natural strength
of their home province, Distances and supplies were the real enemies
of the American naval and military forces in California, and the
Californians used this knowledge to their advantage by adopting a
"scorched earth" policy to deny their foe the mobility and sustenance
needed to advance into the interior. But in true Californian styls,
even this attempt to keep valuable livestock from the Americans
failed; by January 1847, the Americans at San Diegc had scraped
together enough cattle and war materiel to launch a successful
campaign on Los Angeles. When the Californics failed to keep supplies
from the Americans, largely because they could not overcome thelr own
divisiveness, not even tgeir test efforts could keep Stockton from

taking Los Angeles.,
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The nature of the war fought between the Americans and
the Californios was also determined by the long-term historical
development of opposing military institutions. The mounted militia
force which met the invasion of 1846 was the product of several
decades of neglect by Spanish ;nd Mexican governments, as well as the
apathy of the native population toward war. More than two decades
of factional strife between the northern and southern aristocratic
families created this distaste for armed conflict on the part of the
Californians., In the end, the lack of rescurces to create an effective
fighting force and the divisiveness of the Californians led to their
downfall,

American military forces that served in California were the
product of English military traditions modified by little more than
50 years of frontier fighting west of the Appalachians. The naval
elements of the California expedition had a tradition of guerre de
course against Great Britain and France, and, more recently, several
years of patrolling duties in waters of commercial interest to the
United States around the weorld. The Americans were betier equipped,
better led, and instilled with the patriotic fervor of a crusading
army about to enlighten a hitherto barbaric people with the ways of
ecivilization. The naval and military forces of Commodors Stockton
and General Kearny worked suprisingly well together in Alta Califcrnia,
perscnal differences aside. Not only did the two branches of the
military services work well with each cther, but in the final canm-
paizn against Los Angeles they were joined by a number of volunteers
whose only previous experience with arms had been on the frontier,

pushing the bcundaries of the United States ever wesitward toward the
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Pacific. These three "branches" coalesced into an effective fighting
force for the duration of combat operations for a little more than a
month from December 1846 to January 1847. The Americans were united
in their purpose, unlike the Californians, and differed only in the
leadership under which they would rule once the peace had been won.
The most important element in American military development as far as
the California campaign was concerned, especially for the relatively
young dragoon force, was the frontier experience of the 19th century.
The United States Army was engaged in operations along the western
frontier of the nation as settlers moved across the continent. They
fought alongside pioneers, who served as volunteers in California
under Frémont. As a result, the frontier played an important role
in forming the military forces which came to Alta California in 1846,

American arms were sucsessful wherever they could be
supported by artillery and bring their superior smalle-arms fire to
bear against the enemy. Such was the case at the battles of the San
Gabriel River and the Mesa. The steady fire from the American in-
fantry square drove off several charges by the Californian cavalry
forces. The two notable setbacks at the Dominguiz Rancho and San
Pascual occurred because artillery was lacking in the first instance
and the dragoons had to rely on their sabres rather than their carbines
in the second., The differences in the historical patterns of develop-
ment of the two opposing armies was clear at San Pascual; the
Californians relied on the lance and reata (lasoc), both reliable
weapons from the Spanish frontier experience, while their American
counterparts had to use thelr secondary weapons rather than the Hall's
Cartine, The long=term historical development of both frontier

institutions then, is an important factor ir explaining the American
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defeat at San Pascual.lo

The dragoons had been in existence for about 13 years by
the time the war with Mexico had broken out. Inexperience in combat
might be one excuse for the poor showing at San Pascual, but it
might also be argued that already a distinct American "way of war,"
to borrow a phrase from historian Russell Weigley, was in the early
stages of development;ll the dragoons relied on firepower as opposed
to melee combat, although they were also itrained as cavalry and
certainly did not lack the courage to engage in hand=-to-hand fighting.
When their superior musketry was rendered useless by the dampness at
San Pascual, the Californians took a heavy toll of the American
soldiers. If the Californios had had more resources at their dis-
posal and less dissension among the rank and file of their forces,
the ceonquest of California might have been much more costly.

The Californians might have failed to negotiate a favcrable
settlement to the confused situation in Alta California during the
summer of 1846, but the terms they received in the Capitulation of
Cahuenga more than made up for the lost opportunity. This treaty was
John C. Fréﬁont's greatest contributicn to the American war effort;
his other accomplishments such as spending thousands of dollars during
his tenure as governor and disobeying the orders of a superior, were
not so great. The terms of the treaty were so lenient that several
American participants observed a rather haughty air about the
Californians, some slaimed that the Californians boasted of dictzting
the terms of the instrumeni of their own surrender. Thatl the terms
were leniert cannct be argued, but the most unusual thing about the
treaty was the way in which it was negotiated. Fré%ont had no authority

to make a peace agreement with the enemy, and his superior was only a
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few miles away when he did so. Kearny sent several notes to Frémont
which were answered by the "Pathfinder's" triumphant entry into Los
Angeles on 14 January with the Capitulation of Cahuenga in hand. Fremont
had apparently received Kearny's letters, but chose to ignore them for
some reason or other, Frémont was a very independent character, not
prone to taking orders from anybody, much less an army general who had
subordinated himself to a navy commodore. It may have seemed natural
to Frémont that he should be the one to receive the credit for bringing
the war to an end since he had been the target of Californian criticism,
which led to the outbreak of hostilities in Alta California in the first
place. The favorable terms of the treaty also advanced his political
influence in the province in his reign as governor, and the explorer
may have had his eye turned toward post-war politics as well. Fréﬁcnt
was, after all, one of the first senators from California during the
1850's, and won the Whig nomination for the presidency in 18356.
Nonetheless, Frénont's wartime experience in California won him a
court-martial instead of the glory which he had sought.

The American occupation of Alta California, although
initially characterized by disazgreements not unlike those that had
plagued the Californians for years, seemed te bear out the proclamaticns
made oy Stockton, Kearny, and Mason. Zoth men declared that real peace
would come to California under American rule and progress would te
made in commerce and industry. This was the essence of the American
dream that was being played out across the continent; from Texas to
California, American settlers were bringing the ways of civilization to
the virgin forests and deserts of North America. Some men in Congress
became bold enougnh tc suggest that the United States should absord

(anada and all of Mexico in an attempt to bring the superior
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institutions of America to the entire continent. The proponents of
"Manifest Destiny"” were at the height of their power in the 1840’s,
and later succeeded in extending the American dream of progress
overseas in the late 19th century. The realities of American
progress were quite different than the dream as the Californians
quickly found out in the years following the war,

And what of California's role in the rising "American
Empire"? The United States had its port on the Pacific by 1848
and utilized it to improve trade relations with the Far East. San
Francisco became a bustling port city with merchantmen and whaling
ships coming and going throughout the year. Gold brought thousands
of settlers to the territory, many of whom remained as farmers and
workers when California became a state. California was becoming "a
bright star in our Union," in the words of General Kearny. His
impression of America's new gains were prophetic:

California with Oregon is destined to supplant the

Sandwich Islands and will furnish our six hundred

whaling vessels and our tweniy thousand sailors in

them, besides our Navy and our troops with the bread-

stuffs and most of the other articles they are to

CONSUME s « «
Unfortunately, the General did not live long enough to see the
province he helped win for his country surpass the Pacific Islands in
importance as he predicted., Kearny died in 1846, shortly after the
court=martial of LTC Fremont.

The conguest of Alta Califernia tock the American frontier
to0 the natural boundary of which the adherents of Manifest Destiny had
so long spoken==the Pacific Ccean. The effort to subdue the province
was no mean feat, as this vpaper has attiempted to show. One of the

most important achievements of the several expeditions sent across
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the continent in 1846 was the building of the "wagon road," which
was little better ithan a trail, by the Mormon Battalion. The con=
sumation of this act fulfilled one of the earliest myths of the
American frontier, the btuilding of a road across the deserts, and
made it reality. This was a popular notion given some substance by
the Lewis and Clark expedition Jjust after the turn of the century,
and supported by later pioneer treks in the 1840's, SGT Daniel Tyler
of the Mormon Battalion felt that "the crowning satisfaction of all
to us was that we had succeeded in making the great national highway

1l
''a reality. 3

across the American desert,’
America had two frontiers as a result of the war for the

west; the one pushed west from the Mississippi River and Kansas plains,

the other moved eastward from California. Not too many years after the

Mexican-American War, in 1869 to be precise, east and west met when

the transcontinental railrocad was completed. This fulfilled the dreams

of a prominent American Senator, one Thomas Hart Benton, who en<

visioned a great continental trading power whose two "wharves," (the

east and west coasts), would one-day be tied together by rail lines.

The pioneers and soldiers who went west in the 1840's made this dream

a reality as well.
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The Mexican-American War brought the second largest increment of
territory to the United States during the nineteenth century. Historians have
written many books on the subject, yet few have concentrated on the course of
the war west of the Mississippi River, especially the campaign in Altas California.
This thesis is an attempt to draw together msume of the material that has been pub-
lished on the war in California, and examine the activities of the American mil-
itary and naval forces which fought for control of that Pacific province.

California was settled by the Spanish in 1769 as a military outpost to
protect New Spain from British and Russian advances in the northwest. Coloniza-
tion proved difficult, however, because California lay so far from the Internal
Provinces of Spain's New World empire. The Spanish military presence was effec-
tive in pacifying the native Indians, but did little to protect the province
from sea-borne invasions. The disruption of communications with New Spain dur-
ing the Mexican Revolution of 1810-1821 caused a further decline of the military
forces in California, thus permitting the development of an independent gowvern-
ment. California remained tied to Mexico culturally, but the Californians readi-
ly rejected any Mexican governor who displeased them.

American interest in California resulted from the search for a Pacific
port to increase commercial relations with China. The first American settlers
in the province were, in fact, New England merchants. The steady westward move~
ment of Americans during the 1830's and 40's found a nacgpal boundary for the
United States on the shores of the Pacific. Stirred by mercantile interests and
a sense of nationalism which was expressed in the rhetoric of "Manifest Destiny,"
the United States govermment @ade the acquisition of California a goal of its
foreign policy.

The United States Pacific Squadron intervened in California during a
civil war between American settlers and the Californians. This resulted in a

seemingly easy conquest and the setting up of a military govermment in August
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1846. The Californians revolted in September, however, and were not subdued
until January 1847. The American forces which conducted the final campaign
consisted of naval infantry under the command of Commodore Robert F. Stockton;
dismounted dragoons who had traveled across the continent under General Stephen
W. Kearny; and American frontiersmen and settlers under LTC John C. Fremont.

.The occupation of Alta California became confused when Commodore Stockton
and General Kearny both claimed to be the military governor. This controversy
resulted from a series of unclear orders emanating from Washington, D.C., and
the Commodore's refusal to yield to the authority of a superior officer. The
difficulty ended in March 1847 with the arrival of Commodores Shubrick and Biddle,
who relieved Stockton and agreed to divide the dutiles of occupation with General
Kearny, according to more recent orders., LTIC Fremont, who had sided with Stock-
ton in the dispute, was later court-martialed for refusing to follow the orders
of General Kearny.

The course of the Mexican-American War in California amply illustrates
the difficulties involved in co-ordinating the activities of military and naval
forces operating far from home. The war was also a clash between the frontier
forces of California and the United States, each of which had dewveloped from
distinct military traditions, and responses to the unique nature of their own
frontiers. The United States was successful because the Californians had not
the resources to put up effective resistance, and the desire on their part to
find an alternative to the yvears of factional strife which preceded the coming

of the Americans in 1846.



